Mortality and QTc prolongation in opioid maintenance treatment

Norwegian Centre for Addiction Research (SERAF)

University of Oslo

PhD thesis

Katinka Anchersen

© Katinka Anchersen, 2010

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo No. 1063

ISBN 978-82-8264-009-1

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Inger Sandved Anfinsen. Printed in Norway: AIT Oslo AS.

Produced in co-operation with Unipub.

The thesis is produced by Unipub merely in connection with the thesis defence. Kindly direct all inquiries regarding the thesis to the copyright holder or the unit which grants the doctorate.

Contents

Acknowledgements	4
List of papers	7
Summary of research	8
Norsk sammendrag	10
Introduction	12
Opioid dependence: an increasing public concern	12
Mortality in opioid dependence	12
Treatment strategies for opioid dependence	13
Opioid maintenance treatment for opioid dependence	14
Mortality in opioid maintenance treatment	15
Common effects and side-effects of opioids	16
QTc interval prolongation and methadone	18
Congenital causes of QTc interval prolongation	23
Opioid maintenance treatment in Norway and research setting	24
Objectives	26
Overall research aims	26
Objectives for each paper	26
Material and methods	28
Cross-register mortality study (Paper 1)	28
ECG assessment study (Paper 2)	30
Prolonged QTc interval mortality study (Paper 2)	32
Cardiac and genetic investigations and management study (Paper 3)	32
Ethical approval	34
Results	35
Overall findings	35
Results corresponding to the objectives of each paper	36
Discussion	40
Cross-register mortality study	40
ECG assessment study	45
Prolonged QTc interval mortality study	47
Cardiac and genetic investigations and management study	48
Ethical considerations in the research	50

Implications for policy and treatment	51
References	54
Paper 1-3	64

Acknowledgements

When I had completed my medical training and house officer job in 2004 I accidently got a post as a physician in opioid maintenance treatment (OMT) at LAR Øst in Oslo. This triggered my interest for addiction medicine. The patients often came to me with questions regarding OMT and various health aspects. When searching in the literature, there appeared to be a lack of research and clear answers to many of these questions. At the time professor Helge Waal was my clinical supervisor and together we planned the research project which has since resulted in this thesis.

I will therefore start by thanking Helge Waal, who has been my main supervisor during this work. Thank you for your open door and availability, your encouragement and for sharing your vast knowledge with me in this process. Your lifelong dedication to addiction medicine has been an everyday inspiration.

The next to be thanked is Thomas Clausen; Younger than the others, but already a qualified professor. It has been a great pleasure to cooperate with you and learn from you. We have shared many constructive and educational conversations, as well as innumerable laughs along the way and I am extremely grateful for your pleasant and attentive approach.

My co-supervisor and professor emeritus of cardiology Viggo Hansteen has performed much of the clinical work and analysed all the ECGs in this research. Thank you, Viggo, for all the hard work, for telling me funny stories from your many years in research and medicine, and for never losing faith in the project.

Professor Michael Gossop is the last to be thanked in the row of co-authors and wise men. Your endless knowledge, wonderful British sense of humor, cunning list and experience in the writing and publication of academic papers have been priceless contributions.

Thank you to Gro Andreassen, who assisted me in collecting the data, and to professor Knut Gjesdal, who gave sound advice along the way.

The cardiac investigations and analyses of genetic tests would not have been possible without the cardiology department at Oslo University Hospital Aker and the medical genetics department at Oslo University Hospital Rikshospitalet.

4

I would also like to thank all my good colleagues at SERAF; the walk down Waal Street has been filled with support and laughter. A big thanks in particular to SERAF's director Jørgen Bramness, who read though this thesis and gave constructive feedback towards the end.

To all my wonderful friends; I am forever grateful and humble for all the encouragement and support you have given me along the way. For some unexplained reason I have ended up with the best friends in the world and I salute you!

To Margrete and Yngve; You are the only parents I have ever wished for. You have never once tried to push me in any direction and have always accepted my (at times undisputedly unwise) decisions.

To Mari and Sara; Thank you for letting me pull out dots of your blond hair in our childhood and still be my best friends today and always.

Dear Jonas, thank you for drawing the illustrations of the heart. You own my heart and now there is a copy of yours in my thesis. I am so grateful that you brought Frida and Mira into my life and gave it new dimensions. Together anything is possible. I love you for all that you are and I look forward to all there is to come.

I finally want to thank our two young sons, who were both born during my work on this project. I blame any spots of breast milk on the youngest, who came only a few weeks before I submitted this thesis. Dear Leon and Frans, you make it all worthwhile.

Katinka Anchersen Summer 2010 Paper 1

Mortality prior to, during and after opioid maintenance treatment (OMT): A national prospective cross-registry study

Thomas Clausen, Katinka Anchersen, Helge Waal.

Drug and Alcohol Dependence 2008; 94: 151-157.

Paper 2

Prevalence and clinical relevance of corrected QT interval prolongation during methadone and buprenorphine treatment: A mortality assessment study

Katinka Anchersen, Thomas Clausen, Michael Gossop, Viggo Hansteen, Helge Waal.

Addiction 2009; 104: 993-999.

Paper 3

Opioid maintenance patients with QTc prolongation: Congenital long QT syndrome mutation may be a contributing risk factor

Katinka Anchersen, Viggo Hansteen, Michael Gossop, Thomas Clausen, Helge Waal.

Drug and Alcohol Dependence 2010; in press.

Summary of research

Mortality and health aspects associated with long term use of opioid maintenance treatment (OMT) are insufficiently researched. The first study investigated mortality prior to, during and after the Norwegian OMT programme. A national OMT register was established based on the electronic record system in OMT centres in Norway. The register contained a total observation period of seven years, from January 1997 to December 2003. Based on national security numbers, these data were cross-linked with the Norwegian national death register, consisting of all Norwegian death certificates. The death certificates include one principal cause of death, and up to four underlying causes (ICD 10 codes). Only the principal cause of death was used.

There was a significant overall reduction in mortality risk between pre-treatment and in-treatment groups (hazard ratio 0.5, P = 0.001). The post-treatment group as a whole was not significantly different from the pre-treatment group with regards to mortality; however, a tendency toward gender differences was observed. Following treatment, males had significantly higher mortality compared to the pre-treatment levels. The post-treatment females had a non-significant tendency toward reduced mortality. A significant overall reduction in mortality risk between the pre-treatment and the intention-to-treat individuals (hazard ratio of 0.6, P = 0.004) was identified. Risk of overdose death was significantly reduced with OMT, both for the in-treatment group separately and in intention-to-treat analysis.

We then investigated the prevalence of corrected QT (QTc) interval prolongation in OMT. Many studies have pointed to a relation between methadone and QTc prolongation. This is associated with a type of cardiac arrhythmia known as torsades des points (TdP) that can lead to syncope and in worst case sudden death. Our aim was to assess the prevalence of QTc prolongation over 500 msec (generally considered the threshold for TdP development), to compare methadone and buprenorphine, investigate a potential dose-dependent association and possible risk factors for prolonged QTc interval.

8

In a cross-sectional study, we recorded electrocardiographies (ECGs) on 200 OMT patients in Oslo. 173 of these were on methadone, the rest on buprenorphine. The ECGs were assessed by a senior cardiologist, blinded for all patient details. Of the 173 patients on methadone, eight were found to have QTc interval above 500 msec. These were all on doses of 120 mg or more per day. None of the buprenorphine patients exhibited QTc prolongation. A dose-dependent association was found between methadone dose and the length of the QTc interval. There was no association detected in the analyses between age, gender or time in treatment and QTc prolongation.

The clinical relevance of QTc prolongation and whether deaths in OMT could potentially be attributed to QTc prolongation and ventricular arrhythmia was investigated. The data from the first cross-register study was examined and the stated causes of death for patients in treatment analysed. 90 deaths had occurred among the 2382 patients with 6450 total years in OMT. Only four could possibly be attributed to ventricular arrhythmia. Thus, the maximum mortality rate potentially attributable to QTc prolongation was 0.06 deaths per 100 patient years in OMT. Additionally, only one death among 3850 OMT initiations occurred within the first month of treatment.

Finally, the eight patients previously found to have prolonged QTc intervals above 500 msec were offered further cardiac investigations and management. The investigations included a new ECG at rest, exercise ECG, 24 hours ECG (Holter) and genetic testing for the five most common long QT syndrome (LQTS) mutations. Seven patients accepted genetic testing. One of these later dropped out of OMT. Six patients attended the cardiac outpatient clinic. The QTc intervals fluctuated widely over 24 hours and during exercise. Two were heterozygous carriers of mutations in LQTS1 and LQTS2 genes, respectively. Both had previous histories of cardiac symptoms, but had never been under cardiac investigations prior to the study. One had already switched to buprenorphine and started on protective beta-blocker. None of the remaining five patients, including the women with the LQTS2 mutation, wanted to switch to buprenorphine or take other cardiac protective measures. Safe cardiac management of methadone patients found to have QTc prolongation proved very difficult.

Norsk sammendrag

Dødelighet og helseproblemer knyttet til legemiddelassistert rehabilitering (LAR) er utilstrekkelig forsket på. I det første studiet undersøkte vi dødelighet knyttet til perioden før, under og etter LAR behandling. Et norsk LAR register ble etablert og inneholdt informasjon om alle som hadde søkt LAR i Norge over en syv års periode, fra januar 1997 til desember 2003. Ved bruk av personnummer ble dette registeret krysset med det norske dødsårsaksregisteret til Statistisk sentralbyrå (SSB). Kun hoveddødsårsak ble benyttet.

En signifikant totalreduksjon i dødelighet ble funnet under behandling, sammenlignet med før LAR. På totalgruppenivå var det ingen dødelighetsforskjell mellom før- og etter-LAR gruppene, mens en tendens til kjønnsforskjell ble funnet. Etter avsluttet behandling hadde menn en signifikant økt dødelighet sammenlignet med før LAR, mens kvinner hadde en ikke-signifikant tendens til lavere dødelighet. En signifikant nedgang i dødelighet ble funnet mellom før-LAR og intensjon-om-å-behandlegruppene. Risiko for overdosedød ble redusert med LAR, både for de i behandling og for intensjon-om-å-behandle-gruppen.

Vi undersøkte også forekomsten av korrigert QT (QTc) forlengelse i LAR. Mange studier har vist til en sammenheng mellom metadon og QTc forlengelse. Dette tilknyttes en type hjertearytmi kjent som torsades des pointes (TdP), som kan lede til synkope og i verste fall brå død. Vårt mål var å undersøke forekomsten av QTc forlengelse over 500 millisekunder (ofte antatt å være terskel for TdP utvikling), å sammenligne metadon og buprenorfin, undersøke en potensiell dose-avhengighet, samt å kartlegge risikofaktorer for forlenget QTc intervall.

I vår tverrsnittsstudie tok vi elektrokardiografi (EKG) av 200 LAR pasienter i Oslo. 173 av disse sto på metadon, resten på buprenorfin. EKG'ene ble tolket av en kardiolog, uvitende om alle pasientdetaljer. Av de 173 metadonpasientene ble åtte identifisert med QTc forlengelse over 500 millisekunder. Alle disse hadde metadondose på 120 mg eller mer per dag. Ingen av buprenorfin-pasientene hadde QTc forlengelse. Et dose-avhengig forhold ble funnet mellom metadondose og lengden av QTc intervallet. Det ble ikke funnet noen sammenheng mellom alder, kjønn eller tid i LAR og lengden på QTc intervallet.

Den kliniske relevansen av QTc forlengelse og hvorvidt dødsfall i LAR potensielt kunne tilskrives QTc forlengelse og ventrikulær arytmi ble undersøkt. Data fra det foregående kryss-registerstudiet ble nøye gjennomgått og dødsårsakene for pasienter i behandling analysert. 90 dødsfall hadde forekommet blant de 2382 LAR pasientene med til sammen 6450 år i LAR. Kun fire av disse kunne muligens tilskrives ventrikulær arytmi. Den maksimale dødeligheten som potentielt kunne tilskrives QTc forlengelse var 0.06 dødsfall per 100 personår i LAR. Av 3850 oppstarter i LAR forekom det kun ett dødsfall under den første behandlingsmåneden.

De åtte pasientene med QTc forlengelse over 500 millisekunder i tverrsnittsstudiet ble tilbudt videre hjerteutredning og behandling. Undersøkelsene inkluderte et nytt hvileEKG, belastningsEKG, 24 timers EKG (Holter) og genetisk test for de fem mest vanlige lang QT syndrom (LQTS) mutasjonene. Syv pasienter ønsket genetisk testing. En av disse droppet etterpå ut av LAR. Seks pasienter deltok i videre hjerteutredning. Alle hadde store døgnvariasjoner i QTc intervallet og også under belastning. To pasienter var heterozygote bærere av LQTS mutasjoner, henholdsvis i LQTS1 og LQTS2 gener. Begge hadde i anamnesen tidligere opplevd hjertesymptomer, men de hadde ikke blitt utredet for dette før deltagelse i studiet. En av dem hadde allerede byttet fra metadon til buprenorfin og startet under studiet på en beskyttende beta-blokker. Ingen av de resterende fem pasientene, inkludert kvinnen med LQTS2 mutasjon, ønsket overgang til buprenorfin eller andre hjertebeskyttende tiltak. Trygg hjertebehandling av metadonpasienter med QTc forlengelse viste seg svært utfordrende.

11

Introduction

Opioid dependence: an increasing public concern

According to The world health organisation (WHO), there has been a global increase in the production, transportation and consumption of opioids, mainly heroin over the years. Heroin use has become increasingly common in North America and Europe since the 1960s.¹ From 1985 until today the worldwide production of heroin has more than doubled, or even tripled. Globally, it is estimated that 13.5 million people take opioids and of these 9.2 million use heroin.

In European countries, the average prevalence of problem opioid use in the countries providing data is estimated to be between 3.6 and 4.6 cases per 1 000 of the population aged 15–64. Assuming that this reflects Europe as a whole, it implies that about 1.4 million (1.2–1.5 million) people were problem opioid users in the EU and Norway in 2007.²

Mortality in opioid dependence

Mortality among untreated opioid dependants is internationally estimated with wide variations; between 1 to 4 per 100 person years.³⁻⁶ Heroin injectors who regularly consume large amounts of different drugs, face a risk of death which may be 20 to 30 times higher than non-drug users in the same age range.¹ Relative risk and odds ratio are calculated in relation to baseline mortality in the general population, which depends upon living standards and social conditions. As these vary greatly among different populations worldwide, variations in mortality levels across different groups of illicit drug users are subsequently the result. The majority of deaths among opiate dependents are reported to be overdose related.⁷⁻⁹ Other common causes of death in this group are trauma, including suicide and murder, as well as somatic causes such as blood-borne infections.¹⁰ The number of overdoses will depend on gender, age, type of drug and drug administration, personality, general health status and the availability of treatment within the group. The extent to which drug treatment is

provided and easily accessible, will substantially influence the rates of drug-related mortality in these populations.¹⁰

Treatment strategies for opioid dependence

In theory there are two main types of treatment for opioid dependence; abstinenceoriented therapy and substitution therapy. There are numerous different approaches within abstinence-oriented treatment and these cover both institutionalised and out-patient based therapy. It is not within the scope of this thesis to discuss the many varieties currently used, but in summary as the phrase abstinence-oriented suggests, they all aim for a drug-free state. To reach this goal, the patient has to go from a drug-using to an abstinent state. In the period following opioid detoxification, the rates of fatal overdoses appear increased. This is assumed to be linked to loss of tolerance and the subsequent unpredictability of resumed heroin use.¹¹

A recently published study by Ravndal and Amundsen pointed to an unadjusted excess overdose mortality, with a rate ratio (RR) of 15.7 (95% confidence interval (CI) of 5.3-38.3) during the first 4 weeks after discharge from inpatient facilities with various abstinence-oriented treatment approaches for opioid dependents.¹² Research has also highlighted the increased risk of overdose death in this population after prison release. One study among HIV positive injecting drug users found a relative risk of overdose during the first two weeks after release of 7.7 when compared to the next 10 weeks.¹³ A study of the United States prison population found that during the first two weeks following release, the risk of any mortality was 12.7 (CI 9.2-17.4) times that of other state residents. The risk of death from overdose was particularly high; 129 (CI 89-186).¹⁴

A way of protecting individuals against the increased risk of opioid overdose detoxification is by using an opioid antagonist. Naloxone is a short-acting, non-selective opioid receptor antagonist. As the oral bioavailability is low, the route of effective administration is by intravenous or intramuscular injection. Due to the onset of action within minutes, this is the drug used for immediate opioid overdose reversal.¹⁵ Naltrexone is another opioid antagonist, which is orally effective and longer-acting. A Cochrane review suggested that although oral naltrexone reduced

heroin use more that placebo and psychosocial counselling, it was not beneficial on heroin relapse or treatment retention rates.¹⁶ Over the last decade, sustained-release naltrexone has been investigated in larger clinical trials. The results are so far promising, but the amount of evidence of its effectiveness is still limited.^{17;18}

Opioid maintenance treatment for opioid dependence

The alternative to abstinence-oriented therapy is substitution treatment. Methadone was first synthesised in Germany in 1937 and during World War II it became an important analgesic, as the supply of traditional morphine was short.¹⁹ It is a synthetic opioid agonist that binds to the opioid µ-receptor. Vincent P Dole and Marie Nyswander conducted the first studies in the 1960s, treating heroin addicted patients with methadone. The treatment was intended to replace the use of illicit opioids, mainly heroin, with this long acting agonist, without giving rise to intoxication. They emphasized that methadone could only prevent symptoms of withdrawal and craving; treatment with methadone alone would not restore the life and relations the patient had prior to the heroin addiction and it was only a mean to facilitate this rehabilitation.²⁰ Methadone maintenance treatment (MMT) is today the most commonly used treatment for opiate dependence worldwide, and its effectiveness on attrition and relapse prevention has been demonstrated in many studies.²¹⁻²³

In addition to methadone, buprenorphine is the other most commonly used OMT drug. This is a synthetic opioid that also binds to the µ-opioid receptor. It is a partial agonist, which is known to reach a ceiling effect and is assumed to be less likely to produce intoxication compared to methadone. ²⁴ Due to potential misuse and injection of buprenorphine tablets, a preparation that contains both buprenorphine and naloxone is now available.²⁵ Although all opioids in theory may be suitable as maintenance drugs, currently oral slow-release morphine, codeine and heroin are the other drugs widely used for opioid maintenance treatment purposes.¹⁸

In Europe many opioid users are enrolled in programmes providing long-term care. This is reflected in an increasing proportion of primary opioid users among drug users already in treatment. The total number of clients receiving substitution treatment in the EU, Croatia and Norway was estimated to be about 650 000 in 2007, up from 560 000 in 2005 and 500 000 in 2003.

Opioid maintenance treatment (OMT) is generally considered to be the most important harm-reducing measure in opioid dependence,^{26;27} and it is often stated that "OMT saves lives".^{28;29} Although there is accumulating evidence to support this, the underlying research contains several limitations. This particularly relates to the level of risk reduction, which is highly important both in treatment policy; balancing the need for control with the need for availability and the management of individual patients.

Mortality in opioid maintenance treatment

Mortality has been included in the outcome measures of some randomized controlled trials (RCTs) with short follow-up periods up to 20 weeks, with little or no significant mortality reducing effects found.^{30;31} Study designs with large samples and long-term follow-up periods are needed, but difficult to apply in RCTs, in order to thoroughly investigate the potential mortality reducing effects.³² A systematic review published in 2005 by Amato and colleges concluded that OMT did not exhibit a significantly proven reduction in mortality.³

Nonetheless, the results from OMT research have been divergent on the issue. A Swedish clinical trial comparing buprenorphine maintenance to medically supervised buprenorphine withdrawal, observed a statistically significant reduction in mortality rates favouring buprenorphine maintenance.³³ The group stabilised on buprenorphine would presumably experience less abstinence and also receive some protection against overdose from the drug itself. The conclusions from this clinical trial were further limited by a rather small study size. In 1981, Gunne randomly assigned a group of intravenous heroin abusers to either methadone maintenance treatment (n=17) or no treatment (n=17) and found marked differences in mortality.²⁸ After a 2 years follow-up period, none of the MMT patients had died, whereas two patients died in the control group. Of the MMT patients, 12 were drug-free and the remaining five had recurrent drug problems. Among the controls, one was drug-free, 12 were continuously abusing heroin and two were imprisoned. Notably, that study was performed in a time of policy conflict in Sweden and the group denied treatment were left in a vulnerable situation. This highlights the worrying ethical aspects of an RCT design in this setting.

The mortality-reducing effects of OMT are primarily established through observational studies. These often exclude dropouts, sometimes lack clear selection criteria for treatment or might be seen as local area studies with low generalisation.^{4;34;35} Consequently, the findings are mostly applicable to those selected by the specific treatment unit and maintained in the actual treatment studied. Even well designed cohort studies face challenges with persons lost to follow-up, a commonly recognised problem in the research field of drug addiction.^{36;37} Although large, long-term case-control studies would be desirable, the ethical considerations attached would not permit such an approach.

Programme characteristics such as treatment approach, inclusion and exclusion criteria may vary. Comparison of effect of OMT programmes in various countries or regions can therefore be challenging and indeed highlight the effects on mortality of different criteria for entering treatment. For example, a study from the capital of Sweden found no opiate overdose deaths in their OMT population. The Stockholm programme did not, however, include polydrug users and excluded all patients with concurrent use of drugs.³⁸ The in-treatment effects of such a programme may be favourable, but the external validity limited.

Today increasing numbers of people are being treated with OMT worldwide and larger studies to quantify the treatment effect on mortality is clearly called for. It is likewise important to investigate the mortality risk associated with leaving OMT.

Common effects and side-effects of opioids

Opioid receptors are found in neurones and are spread throughout the central nervous system (CNS).³⁹ The opioid receptors are also found in many other cells in the central and peripheral nervous systems. There are three main types of opioid receptors.⁴⁰ The μ -receptors are thought to be responsible for most of analgesic effects of opioids and are also linked to some major unwanted effects, such as

dependence, sedation and respiratory depression. The δ-receptors are probably more important in the periphery, but may also contribute to analgesia. The K-receptors contribute to analgesia at the spinal level, but produce relatively few unwanted effects and do not contribute to dependence.

Depending on the physiological response from receptor binding, the opioids are divided into pure agonists, like methadone, and partial agonists/antagonists, like buprenorphine. Pure agonists will give maximal biological response, whilst partial agonists will have less effect. Although the various opioids differ in terms of potency, pharmacokinetics and effect on various organ systems, they generally share some common properties. When used over a longer period there is a gradual tolerance development, in which the effect of the opioid decreases with time and higher doses are needed to reach the same level of effect. The use of higher doses is accompanied by increased dose-dependent side-effects. Acute discontinuation of the opioid after 14 days use or more will often lead to withdrawal symptoms such as anxiety, hyperventilation, sweating, dilated pupils and increased pain. Later on more severe symptoms like tachycardia, tremor, nausea, vomiting and diarrhoea may occur.

The therapeutic action of opioids is mainly analgesia, by which they have undisputed effect.⁴⁰ This is commonly their sole indication for use in medicine today. They have also been used therapeutically to suppress coughing, produce sleep and euphoria and prevent diarrhoea. Due to the spread of opioid receptors, opioids affect the various systems of the body and give rise to some common side-effects. All opioids reduce the sensitivity for carbon monoxide in the respiratory centre of the CNS, leading to respiratory depression. Gastrointestinal symptoms are also common, and include nausea, vomiting and constipation. Dizziness, sedation, unsteadiness and confusion occur at higher doses and are most often seen among the elderly. In the cardiovascular system, peripheral vasodilatation and inhibition of baroreceptor reflex leading to hypotension may result. Opioids release histamine from mast cells, by an action unrelated to opioid receptors. This histamine release can cause urticaria and itching of the skin, as well as bronchoconstriction and hypotension. Endocrine effects

(LH) over time, leading to loss of ovulation and menstrual cycle in women and reduced testosterone production with low libido and erectile dysfunction in men.

In opioid maintenance treatment, the dose is slowly increased and then maintained at a steady level in which the patient can function optimally, avoiding both withdrawal symptoms and intoxication. Most patients who start on OMT are already opioid dependent and have developed opioid tolerance. Side-effects may still occur at the beginning of OMT, particularly sedation, nausea and constipation. Sweating and hormonal disturbances may rarely persist and require addressing. Usually the side-effects are minor compared to those of heroin addiction and most will disappear with time. However, when potentially harmful adverse effects of OMT are described, there is a cause for concern. Prolongation of the corrected QT (QTc) interval has received increased attention over the last decades and has been associated with some particular types of opioids, including methadone.

QTc interval prolongation and methadone

The electrical discharge of a normal cardiac cycle starts in a special area of the right atrium called the sinoatrial node (SAN).⁴¹ Depolarization then spreads throughout the atrial muscle fibres. A delay occurs when the depolarization spreads through another special area in the atrium called the atrioventricular node (AVN). From there, the electrical discharge travels very rapidly down specialised conduction tissue; first a single pathway, the bundle of His, which then divides in the septum between the ventricles into the right and left bundle branches. Within the mass of ventricular muscle, conduction spreads somewhat more slowly, through specialised tissue called Purkinje fibres. This pattern is repeated for every cardiac cycle.

Figure 1. The anatomy of the heart with a normal cardiac conduction system



The electrical changes that occur during cardiac contraction can be detected by electrodes attached to the surface of the body when recording an electrocardiogram (ECG). The muscle mass of the atria is small compared with that of the ventricles, and the accompanying electrical changes is therefore small. On the ECG the atrial contraction is called the P wave. There is a large deflection on the ECG when the ventricles are depolarised and this forms the QRS complex. The T wave of the ECG is associated with the return of the ventricular mass to its resting electrical state (repolarisation).

Figure 2. Anatomy of the heart and appearance of a normal ECG



The QT interval is measured from the beginning of the Q-wave to the end of the T wave.⁴¹ The QT interval represents the duration of activation and recovery of the ventricular muscles. This duration is reciprocal to the pulse and is measured in milliseconds (msec). Under normal conditions, this should be less than 450 msec when corrected for heart rate (QTc interval). Prolongation of the QTc interval is characterised by abnormal T-wave morphology seen on ECG and is associated with torsades de pointes (TdP).⁴² In most cases TdP is self-terminating and causes a quick syncopal episode. If the TdP is more persistent and the rhythm does not spontaneously return to normal, ventricular fibrillation occasionally leading to cardiac arrest and sudden death can result. TdP is rarely associated with a QTc interval of less than 500 msec and this is generally considered the threshold for the risk of TdP development.⁴³

Figure 3. Torsades de pointes (TdP)



Image shows: A premature ventricular beat is followed by a pause and a subsequent supraventricular beat. Then a premature ventricular beat appeares, followed by an episode of polymorphic ventricular tachycardia showing a peculiar electrocardiographic pattern characterised by a continuous twisting in QRS axis around an imaginary baseline ("torsades de pointes" - TdP).

Drug-induced QTc prolongation is caused mainly by blockade of the slow component of the delayed rectifier potassium (K⁺) current (I_{Kr}), a major repolarisation current in the heart. The I_{Kr} blockers, such as methadone, increase the dispersion in repolarisation. They often have a so-called reverse frequency-dependent effect on the QTc interval, in which the degree of prolongation is more prominent during slow heart rates.⁴⁴ In medical practice, this is a well-recognised adverse effect of certain drugs,^{45;46} including anti-psychotics and anti-depressants.^{47;48} The finding of an association between long-term use of opioid agonists and prolongation of the QTc interval was first demonstrated during maintenance treatment with levomethadyl hydrochloride acetate (LAAM), which was later redrawn from the market.⁴⁹ Early studies reported an association between the use of methadone and QTc prolongation.⁵⁰⁻⁵² Several cross-sectional studies have since confirmed this association.⁵³⁻⁵⁵ Ehret *et al* compared the electrocardiography (ECG) recordings of drug users on methadone with those of drug users not on methadone in a tertiary care hospital.⁵⁶ Of the MMT patients, QTc prolongation of 500 msec or more was detected in 16.2 %. No evidence of QTc prolongation was identified among those not receiving methadone. Wedam *et al* conducted a large randomized, controlled trial comparing the QTc effects of methadone, levomethadyl acetate (LAAM) and buprenorphine.⁵⁷ They found that the LAAM and methadone groups were significantly more likely to have a QTc greater than 470 msec (men) or 490 msec (women) or an increase from baseline in QTc greater than 60 msec.

Although several studies have demonstrated a dose-dependent relationship between methadone dose and QTc interval,^{56;58;59} other researchers have not detected this effect. Peles *et al* found no correlation between QTc prolongation and methadone dose or serum levels.⁵⁵ Martell *et al* found significant increases in the QTc interval after initiation of methadone treatment, but these were unrelated to the amount of methadone used.⁵¹ In their analysis of the mechanism of opioid influence on cardiac function, Katchman *et al* suggested that morphine and codeine had the largest safety margin,⁶⁰ while other authors have advocated the great safety of buprenorphine.^{61;62} Today the association between methadone and QTc prolongation is well-established. However, there has been disagreement about whether a dose-dependent association exists. Furthermore, it has remained unclear whether time in treatment, gender or age has any influence on the QTc interval.

Both torsades de pointes and cardiac fibrillation have occasionally been reported among methadone patients.⁶²⁻⁶⁵ A Danish cross-sectional study by Fanoe *et al* found a dose-response association between methadone and the length of the QTc interval, with increased methadone dose associated with a higher frequency of reported syncope.⁶⁶ After conducting a prospective evaluation of patients with sudden death in the community, Chugh and associates pointed toward an association between the use of methadone at therapeutic levels and the occurrence of sudden cardiac death.⁶⁷ A review of methadone-related adverse events reported to the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) between 1969 and 2002 identified 59 cases involving QT prolongation or TdP. Of these, 28 resulted in hospitalisation: 5 of the 59 cases resulted in death.⁶⁸ Despite these studies, the clinical relevance and, importantly, whether there is mortality attributable to QTc prolongation in OMT have not been clearly established.

There are often multiple contributing factors to drug-induced QTc prolongation and ventricular arrhythmia, including hepatic cytochrome P450 inhibitors, structural heart disease and hypokalemia, as well as genetic predisposition.⁶⁹ These risk factors are often poorly identified among OMT patients before treatment with methadone is initiated. Despite extensive research on both congenital and acquired long QTc interval, to our knowledge, no previous study has specifically investigated whether congenital long QT syndrome (LQTS) mutation may pre-exist in patients on methadone maintenance treatment with prolonged QTc interval.

Congenital causes of QTc interval prolongation

Three major genes were identified as involved in congenital long QT syndrome (LQTS) as early as in 1995-96.⁷⁰ Currently, mutations in eleven different genes located in seven different chromosomes have been identified. The eleven genes code for subunits of various ion channels (potassium, calcium and sodium) and a structural anchoring protein. This forms the basis of the eleven known subtypes of LQTS (LQTS1-11), but most of the identified mutations occur in LQTS1, LQTS2 and LQTS3 genes.⁷¹ Congenital long QT syndrome has both an autosomal dominant and a recessive trait of inheritance. When LQTS follows the dominant mode, it is commonly known as Romano-Ward syndrome. The recessive pattern is often referred to as Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome and is characterised by a more severe phenotype and accompanied by congenital deafness.⁷²

A recent study from Norway investigated the prevalence of LQTS mutations in the Norwegian population.⁷³ The researchers tested for mutations in the *KCNQ1*, *HERG*, *SCN5A*, *minK* and *MiRP1* genes, which all codes for subunits of cardiac ion channels. By performing cascade screening of 505 relatives of index patients with molecularly defined LQTS, they identified 251 mutation carriers. The observed

penetrance was 41 %. They estimated that the prevalence in Norway of heterozygous mutation carriers for the five genes could be somewhere between 1/100 and 1/300.⁷³

The treatment of congenital LQTS has followed three classical modalities: betaadrenergic blocking agents (beta-blockers), elective pacing (pacemakers) and left cervicothoracic sympathetic ganglionectomy.⁷¹ Beta-blockers have been the standard therapeutic and preventative therapy of LQTS and are effective in about 60-70 % of patients in all age groups.⁷⁴ Pacemaker should be considered an adjunct to betablockers when there is evidence of pause or bradycardia-dependent arrhythmia and symptomatic bradycardia induced by beta-blocker therapy.⁷⁵ Left cardiac sympathetic denervation (ganglionectomy) is considered for LQTS patients suffering from cardiac events, despite treatment with beta-blockers, and in patients who experience arrhythmia storms with an implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (ICD).⁷⁶ An ICD will not prevent the precipitation of TdP, but will prevent sudden cardiac death when TdP persists or generate ventricular fibrillation. It has been used successfully when therapy with the classical modalities has failed.⁷¹

Both congenital (LQTS) and acquired prolongation of the QTc interval occur in all races and across all ethnic groups.⁷⁷ It is vital for patients with LQTS to avoid all drugs associated with QTc prolongation, which could increase the cardiac risk further.⁷¹ Brink *et al* found that a QTc interval greater than 500 msec was associated with a 4-fold increased risk of syncope or sudden death in LQTS patients.⁷⁸ However, congenital LQTS is often an undetected condition. More specifically, if the LQTS mutation has previously been silent or undetected for other reasons, there is indeed a risk that the patient may be started on a QTc prolonging drug, such as methadone. Once identified, these patients should therefore always be provided with an updated list of potentially harmful drugs that must be avoided.⁷⁹

Opioid maintenance treatment in Norway and research setting

In Norway, opioid maintenance treatment (OMT) was established by the government as a national system. The programme was designed to reach the population of severely addicted heroin users not benefiting from other types of treatment and was first made nationally available in 1998.⁸⁰ At the time of our research one of the inclusion criteria for OMT was "several years of addiction dominated by opioid dependence", verified prior to treatment. Additionally, it was also a requirement that the patient had made several failed attempts at abstinence-oriented therapy forms, prior to entering OMT. There was a 25 year age limit for inclusion, although exceptions were made. Persons with severe somatic or psychiatric co-morbidity were given priority. Treatment was based on cooperation between the social services, general practitioners (GPs) and specialised OMT centres.

Objectives

Overall research aims

There were two overall aims in this research. The first was to evaluate changes in mortality rate before, during and after opioid maintenance treatment (OMT) in association with overdose and non-overdose as causes of death. This is dealt with in paper 1. The second overall aim was to investigate QTc prolongation in OMT, with regards to prevalence, clinical relevance and manifestation, and presence of contributing risk factors, including genetic predisposition. This aim is approached in paper 2 and 3.

Objectives for each paper

Paper 1

Mortality prior to, during and after opioid maintenance treatment (OMT): A national prospective cross-registry study

Research objectives:

- 1. To assess differences in mortality rates prior to, during and after OMT.
- 2. To evaluate mortality reductions in an intention-to-treat perspective.
- 3. To examine the distribution of drug overdose versus non-overdose as cause of death.

Paper 2

Prevalence and clinical relevance of corrected QT interval prolongation during methadone and buprenorphine treatment: A mortality assessment study

Research objectives:

- 1. To investigate the prevalence of QTc prolongation among opioid maintenance treatment (OMT) patients in Oslo.
- 2. To assess any relation between QTc prolongation and type of agonist (methadone and buprenorphine), dose, gender and length of treatment.
- 3. To estimate the extent to which deaths occurring in the Norwegian OMT programme might be attributed to QTc prolongation.

Paper 3

Opioid maintenance patients with QTc prolongation: Congenital long QT syndrome mutation may be a contributing risk factor

Research objectives:

- To describe the findings of past medical history, drug and family history, focusing in particular on cardiac symptoms and other risk factors for QTc prolongation.
- To conduct genetic testing for LQTS mutations among OMT patients with QTc interval > 500 msec.
- To discuss in detail the findings from cardiac investigation and management of OMT patients found to have QTc prolongation.

Cross-register mortality study (Paper 1)

Sample

All opioid-dependent people who applied for and were accepted for OMT in Norway between 1 January 1997 and 31 December 2003 were included in the data for this study. This made a total of 3789 individuals with a total observation time of up to seven years. The design was a prospective cohort, where persons were included as they applied for OMT, resulting in individual and varying observation times; from inclusion until 31.12.2003, which was the time set for examination of mortality.

At the time of our mortality study, there was estimated to be between 8200 and 12500 injecting opiate addicts in Norway.⁸¹ Of the patients accepted for OMT, 90-95 % were intravenous drug users. Buprenorphine was registered as a therapeutic OMT drug in 2001 and was used by 23% by the end of 2003. At the start of the observation period all patients were on methadone and in total during the whole period more than 9 out of 10 patients used methadone, according to the annual Norwegian OMT evaluations.⁸²The average dosing of methadone and buprenorphine was 112 mg and 20 mg, respectively in 2005.^{80;82;83}

Data collection

The sample was divided into pre-treatment (applicants qualifying for OMT, but prior to initiation of treatment = waiting list), in-treatment (in OMT) and post-treatment (after termination of OMT). A national OMT register including national ID numbers was established based on the electronic record system in each OMT centre. Each centre provided lists of all persons who had applied for, entered and left OMT during the observation period. These lists were sent to Statistics Norway and information on the date and cause(s) of any deaths were attached to the data files. Statistics Norway (SSB) is responsible for a national mortality register, based on all Norwegian death

certificates. The merging of data registers was performed towards the end of 2005. Thus, all deaths in the observation period (through to end of 2003) are included in the register.

Measures and definitions

All death certificates registered with Statistics Norway are completed by a medical doctor after examination of the deceased. In about one-third of cases, additional information as a result of autopsy is included.⁸⁴ Death certificates include one principal cause of death, and up to four underlying causes (ICD 10 codes).^{84;85} Only the principal cause of death was used. Acute intoxications resulting in death from all substances were combined in an "overdose" category. These comprised ICD 10 codes F11.0, F19.0, X42.0 and X44.0 diagnoses. The non-overdose groups included both somatic and sudden/violent deaths (such as suicide, traffic accidents and homicide).

Some subjects included in the study (167 individuals) underwent several treatment periods. In-treatment refers in this study to the actual number of days in treatment (sum of days in treatment, excluding days after or between treatment periods). Post-treatment is the number of days out of treatment both between and following treatment periods within the study period. If subjects had several application dates, the first date was chosen.

The register initially contained some individuals that for varying reasons did not start treatment. Some did not fulfil the criteria of opioid dependence. Others chose long term drug free residential treatment and some chose not to start for other reasons. These subjects had application dates, but no treatment initiation within one year. The applications were all re-examined and verification of the application status confirmed. Subjects who were ineligible or withdrew their application for OMT constitute a mixed group that was termed "ineligible for treatment" (403 persons in total). Possible cases of misclassifications between pre-treatment and ineligible groups cannot be ruled out, although the utmost care was taken to reduce the problem by manually cross-checking the data with each centre. Mortality rate was not

calculated for this group as a whole, as no definite observation time was available. Some persons with application status (pre-treatment) between 1 and 365 days (included during the final year of observation 2003), may have withdrawn the application prior to commencing treatment or been found ineligible, without this being captured during data collection, as we have no information about the status of the subjects included beyond 31.12. 2003.

Intention-to-treat in this paper includes every person who ever started on OMT.

Analyses

Most analyses and descriptive statistics were performed by SPSS version 14.0.2. (Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Mortality rates were calculated per 100 person years, in this equivalent case to percentage mortality per year, with 95% confidence intervals.

A Cox regression with a time-dependent covariate was performed (by SAS 9.2) (SAS Institute Inc.), to assess statistical differences between the treatment categories, as each individual could have changed status from pre-treatment to treatment and subsequently to post-treatment during the observation period. The time-dependent covariate was defined according to a subject's placement within the groups: pre-treatment, in-treatment and post-treatment. Calculated hazard ratios should be interpreted as the relative risk (RR) between groups.

ECG assessment study (Paper 2)

Sample

The prevalence of QTc prolongation was assessed in a normal clinical setting. All OMT patients in Oslo are registered at the Oslo centre, LAR ØST. They are, however, mostly treated by GP in collaboration with the social service, and have dispensing of OMT medication at pharmacies. This enabled a cross-sectional study inviting all patients to have an ECG recording, either at the OMT centre or at the pharmacies. All opioid maintenance treatment patients in Oslo were eligible for the QTc study. An ambulatory team consisting of a medical doctor and a nurse offered ECGs at selected pick-up locations for the OMT drugs. These included pharmacies and OMT services, where the appointed time of ECG recording was announced by posters and hand-outs a week in advance. The recruitment period lasted from October 2006 to August 2007. The average number of patients in treatment during this period was 976. Two hundred of these, roughly 20 % of the full treatment population, were recruited.

In the sample (n=200), 86.5 % were prescribed methadone and 13.5 % were prescribed buprenorphine: 68 % of the patients were men. The methadone patients were a few years older than those on buprenorphine and had spent a mean time of 2.8 years longer in treatment. The sample characteristics were similar to those of the broader national sample, based upon data from the Norwegian annual evaluation:⁸³ in the study period, 30.5 % of the OMT population were women and the mean age of the patients was 39.9 years: in Oslo, 82 % of the patients used methadone, while 18 % were on buprenorphine. The mean daily doses used during the study period were 110.2 mg for methadone and 17.3 mg for buprenorphine.

Procedure for QTc measurement

The patients were approached for an ECG recording between 8 and 10 am, after observed intake of their daily dose of OMT drug. When the patients had given verbal consent, a 12 lead ECG was recorded. This was done using the same ambulatory 6 channel ECG- apparatus for all the recordings; Siemens-Elema AB, model: 96 58 744, serial no: 0165, 50/60 Hz, 200 VA. Each patient was identified by a study number.

QT time was measured in lead V5 in most patients. In a few cases there were technical disturbances in V5 and QT time was measured in V4 or V6. The cardiologist used a calliper and manually measured the QT and RR intervals of five consecutive QRS complexes. The mean values for both the QT and the RR intervals were estimated. Based on the mean RR and mean QT, the corrected QT (QTc) interval was then calculated by using to the formula of Bazett.⁸⁶ All the ECGs

were examined by the same cardiologist, who was blinded for all patient details, including type of OMT medication, as well as dose, age, gender, and time in treatment.

Prolonged QTc interval mortality study (Paper 2)

Sample

In the mortality assessment study, the results from crossing the two different national registers in the mortality study were used. The OMT register did not provide information on the type of OMT medication that the patients were using. However, at the start of the observation period all patients were on methadone and during the whole period more than 9 out of 10 patients used methadone, according to the annual Norwegian OMT evaluations.⁸²

Analysis

Deaths were analysed according to time in treatment and cause of death. Since cardiac arrhythmia might have been missed, or misdiagnosed for some deaths, the estimation of mortality which may have been due to cardiac arrhythmia (and hence QTc prolongation) was made by including those deaths in which these causes could not be excluded. The overdoses which were confirmed by post-mortem, and where fatal levels of various drugs had been detected in the blood, were excluded as possible cases of cardiac arrhythmia.

Cardiac and genetic investigations and management study (Paper 3)

Patients with QTc > 500 msec were identified and recruited from a QTc assessment study: ECG was recorded among 200 OMT patients 87 , of whom 173 (53 women) were on methadone and 27 (9 women) on buprenorphine. The mean age was 41

years. The mean daily methadone dose of the sample was 111 mg (standard deviation (SD) 35 mg) and buprenorphine dose 19 mg (SD 5 mg).

The cardiologist, blinded to all patient details, used a calliper and manually measured the QT and RR intervals of five consecutive QRS complexes. Based on the mean RR and mean QT, the rate-corrected QT (QTc) interval was calculated using the formula of Bazett ⁸⁶.

A detailed medical history was obtained from patients with QTc interval > 500 msec at the initial consultation. Previous cardiac symptoms and disorders were specifically requested, as were conditions like HIV, diabetes and liver disorders. All illegal and prescribed drugs ever used, particularly those associated with changes in QTc interval (e.g. cocaine and methamphetamine, antiarrhythmic, antipsychotic and antidepressive medications) were noted. The family history focused on known cardiac disorders, symptoms or treatment, sudden death, unexplained deaths or accidents, drowning or sudden infant death syndrome.

Standard dideoxy DNA sequencing was done on blood samples, in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions, using the 3.1 version of the Big Dye terminator cycle sequencing kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, California, USA). The testing was performed at the Department of medical genetics at Oslo University Hospital Rikshospitalet, checking for mutations in the following five genes:

- Potassium channel, voltage-gated, KQT-like subfamily, member 1 (KCNQ1) = LQTS1
- Human ether-a-go-go-related gene (*HERG*) = LQTS2
- Sodium channel, voltage-gated, type V, alpha subunit (SCN5A) = LQTS3
- Minimal potassium ion channel (*minK*) = LQTS5
- Minimal potassium ion channel-related peptide 1 (MiRP1) = LQTS6

PolyPhen® software was used to evaluate the pathogenicity of mutations detected ⁸⁸. Serum potassium levels were measured.

Patients were encouraged to attend the cardiac outpatient clinic at Oslo University Hospital Aker for an appointment with a consultant cardiologist. Investigations included ECG at rest, exercise ECG (bicycle) and 24 hours ECG (Holter) recording.

The final cardiac and genetic investigation and management study would not have been possible without the contributions of the cardiology department at Oslo University Hospital Aker, who willingly invited the patients to investigations and management in their facilities. Oslo University Hospital Rikshospitalet performed the genetic testing free of charge, which would otherwise not have been possible given our resources.

Ethical approval

The projects were all approved by the National Committees for Research Ethics and by the Data Inspectorate of Norway.
Results

Overall findings

The main findings included a significant overall reduction in mortality risk between pre-treatment and in-treatment groups (hazard ratio 0.5, P = 0.001). Following treatment, males had significantly higher mortality than the pre-treatment levels. Risk for overdose death was significantly reduced with OMT, both for the in-treatment group separately and in the intention-to-treat analysis.

The prevalence of QTc interval above 500 msec was 4.6 % among the methadone patients. All the buprenorphine patients had QTc interval within the normal range. A dose-dependent association was found between methadone dose and the length of the QTc interval in the regression analysis. The maximum mortality rate potentially attributable to QTc prolongation was found to be 0.06 deaths per 100 patient years in OMT.

The cardiac investigations of the six patients revealed that QTc intervals fluctuated widely over 24 hours and during exercise. A man and a woman were identified as heterozygous carriers of mutations in LQTS1 and LQTS2 genes, respectively. The LQTS1 mutation carrier had already switched to buprenorphine and started on protective beta-blocker. None of the remaining five patients, including the women with the LQTS2 mutation, were willing to switch to buprenorphine or take other cardiac protective measures.

Results corresponding to the objectives of each paper

Mortality prior to, during and after opioid maintenance treatment (OMT): A national prospective cross-registry study

Research objectives:

1. To assess differences in mortality rates prior to, during and after OMT.

The study identified major differences in mortality rates prior to, during and after opioid maintenance treatment (OMT); per 100 person years in OMT the estimated mortality rates were 2.4 prior to OMT, 1.4 in OMT and 3.4 after OMT. In terms of hazard rates for death, there was an overall reduction in mortality risk between the pre-treatment and in-treatment groups (hazard ratio 0.5, P = 0.001). The post-treatment group as a whole was not significantly different from the pre-treatment group in regard to mortality. However, following treatment, males had significantly higher mortality than the pre-treatment levels. The post-treatment females had a non-significant tendency toward reduced mortality.

2. To evaluate mortality reductions in an intention-to-treat perspective.

An overall reduction in mortality risk between the pre-treatment and the intention-totreat populations was found, with a hazard ratio of 0.6, P = 0.004.). In an intentionto-treat perspective the overdose mortality rate reduction per 100 person years was smaller than for the in-treatment group. Still a significant reduction was detected; 1.9 pre-treatment to 0.7 in the intention-to-treat group. 3. To examine the distribution of drug overdose versus non-overdose as cause of death.

In terms of overdose mortality, this comprised 79 % of the all pre-treatment deaths and 61 % of the all post-treatment deaths. In the in-treatment group, overdose mortality accounted for only 27 % of all deaths. In the overall mortality, all groups combined, overdose accounted for 53 % of all deaths. A significant reduction in overdose mortality rate for the group in OMT (1.4) compared with the pre-treatment group (2.4) was found. Overdose mortality rate was particularly prevalent among males who had ceased treatment (4.1).

Prevalence and clinical relevance of corrected QT interval prolongation during methadone and buprenorphine treatment: A mortality assessment study

Research objectives:

1. To investigate the prevalence of QTc prolongation among opioid maintenance treatment (OMT) patients in Oslo.

When investigating the prevalence of QTc prolongation in OMT, we found that 49.1 % (n=85) of the methadone patients had a QTc interval above 430 msec. Fifty patients (28.9 %) had a QTc above 450 msec. There were 15 % (n=16) with a QTc interval above 470 msec and 4.6 % (n=8) with a QTc above 500 msec. No patients on a dose of less than 120 mg were found to have a QTc above 500 msec. All the 27 patients on buprenorphine had QTc levels below 450 msec.

 To assess any relation between QTc prolongation and type of agonist (methadone and buprenorphine), dose, gender and length of treatment.

A positive correlation was found between QTc interval and dose of methadone, both in the univariate (r=0.37, p<0.00) and multivariate analysis (B=0.37, p<0.00).

No statistically significant correlation was detected between QTc interval and time in treatment, age or gender. No statistically significant association was found between buprenorphine dose and the length of QTc interval.

 To estimate the extent to which deaths occurring in the Norwegian OMT programme might be attributed to QTc prolongation.

The calculation of mortality potentially attributable to QTc prolongation included those deaths which were due to overdose and where post-mortem was not conducted, and deaths of unknown cause. Based on these figures, the estimated maximum mortality theoretically attributable to QTc prolongation was 4 deaths/6450 patient years in OMT = 0.06 deaths per 100 patient years in OMT. Only one death occurred that could possibly be attributed to cardiac arrhythmia within the first month of treatment. This corresponded to 1 death per 3850 OMT initiations.

Opioid maintenance patients with QTc prolongation: Congenital long QT syndrome mutation may be a contributing risk factor

Research objectives:

 To describe the findings of past medical history, drug and family history, focusing in particular on cardiac symptoms and other risk factors for QTc prolongation.

There were no cases of known HIV, liver disease, diabetes or other chronic disorders. No cardiac disorders had been diagnosed. There was no reported use of other illegal or prescribed drugs known to affect the QTc interval and no relevant family history for any of the participants. Two patients had histories of previous cardiac symptoms prior to OMT.

 To conduct genetic testing for LQTS mutations among OMT patients with QTc interval > 500 msec. Of the seven patients tested, two were found to be heterozygous carriers of two different LQTS mutations. Both had previously experienced cardiac symptoms prior to and during OMT, without receiving further cardiac or genetic investigations. One female patient was found to be heterozygous for a mutation in the R885C in exon 11 of the Human ether-a-go-go-related gene (HERG), known as LQTS2. One male was found to carry a heterozygous mutation in the Q530X of the Potassium channel, voltage-gated, KQT-like subfamily, member 1 (KCNQ1) gene, known as LQTS1.

 To discuss in detail the findings from cardiac investigation and management of OMT patients found to have QTc prolongation.

The cardiac investigations revealed that QTc intervals fluctuated widely over 24 hours and during exercise for all patients. Three patients, without LQTS mutations detected, had reductions to their QTc interval from above to significantly below 500 msec with increased heart rate, illustrating the reverse frequency-dependent effect of drug-induced QTc prolongation. The LQTS1 mutation carrier had switched to buprenorphine and started on a protective beta-blocker. Despite expert advice, none of the other patients wanted to switch to buprenorphine, reduce the methadone dose or take other cardiac protective measures.

Discussion

Cross-register mortality study

Discussion of results

This study illustrates reduced mortality during opioid maintenance treatment. It also highlights a change in causation, in which overdose mortality is dominant before and after treatment, and non-overdose mortality is most common in treatment. Our approach enabled calculation of direct risk reductions in OMT in relation to the pre-treatment level, demonstrating significant reductions both in overdose deaths (RR 0.2) and all-cause mortality (RR 0.5). The mortality reduction may have been influenced by the particular characteristics of OMT in Norway at the time. Long term opiate addiction was a criterion to be found eligible for OMT. As a consequence, the patients admitted to the programme were long term, opioid dependent individuals. As the route of heroin administration in Norway is most commonly by injection, these were mainly needle users, with correspondingly poor health status.

The mortality pattern demonstrated in the study resembles findings from other studies previously reported in Amsterdam and Stockholm.^{38;89;90} Although reduced from the pre-treatment level, overdose mortality was still found in treatment. Our overdose mortality rate during treatment (0.4 per 100 person years) is similar to what has been reported by Caplehorn et al, who identified an overdose mortality of 0.5 per 100 person years during treatment.⁹¹ It is reasonable to assume that these overdoses were caused by polydrug intoxications, in which illicit opiates may or may not have been involved. Unfortunately, the registers did not provide any information on the OMT drug and dose the patients who died of overdose during treatment were on.

Another noteworthy finding is that non-overdose deaths in the in-treatment group were dominating. Somatic health problems promoted swift acceptance into the programme. However, the cross-register data did not provide information on the health status of each individual patient. Exact figures for HIV prevalence in the study population were therefore unavailable in the dataset, but it is known to be relatively

low in Norway.⁹² Estimated HIV prevalence based on available information, was in the range of 2–5 % among Norwegian OMT patients during the study period.

In addition to these findings, the study also demonstrated that a significant mortality risk reduction was found using the intention-to-treat perspective; in which mortality in drop outs was also included. In this perspective the overall mortality RR was 0.6 compared with the pre-treatment level. The benefits of OMT were supported also from the intention-to-treat perspective. However, as expected the benefit was less than when compared with the reduction found in the in-treatment group. Studies focusing only on treatment results for completers will tend to overestimate the positive outcomes of OMT due to selection mechanisms. By including all patients who ever started on OMT in an intention-to-treat analysis, this selection bias can be ruled out.

The increase in mortality for the post-treatment group was mainly caused by an increased frequency of overdose deaths, corresponding with previous findings.^{9;29} Patterns of mortality and mortality reductions were generally similar for both genders, with a couple of notable exceptions. Men who ceased OMT treatment had twice the risk of death as women in the same situation. The increase in overdose mortality post-treatment was more or less confined to males. Unfortunately, the dataset did not give information with regards to why individuals had stopped OMT, and whether this was voluntary or not. Thus, we have no data to provide an explanation for this gender-related pattern. However, males in the general population also appear to have about twice the age-adjusted mortality risk as females.⁸⁴ It is possible that the post-treatment group included individuals with the largest burden of psychiatric comorbidity, since it is generally accepted that it is the most heavily burdened and non-compliant patients who leave OMT.^{30;38;93;94}

After the conductance of our study, Clausen and colleagues did further analyses of the cross-register data generated.⁹⁵ Mortality aspects among opioid users in relation to opioid maintenance treatment, age and causes of death were investigated. They found that overdose deaths among all age groups were reduced during OMT. Whilst in treatment, older patients (≥50 years of age) were at higher risk for both somatic and traumatic deaths compared with the younger, and in general, deaths

during OMT were likely to be due to somatic causes. Before entering treatment, younger patients (\leq 34 years of age) had a greater risk of fatal overdose. After leaving treatment, it was the older patients (\geq 50 years of age) who faced the greatest risk of dying from an overdose. A recently published British paper, retrospectively investigated factors associated with mortality during methadone maintenance treatment for 2378 patients.⁹⁶ Overuse of methadone, a history of psychiatric admissions and comorbidity were all associated with increase in all cause mortality. More specifically, history of psychiatric admission, as well as previously been prescribed benzodiazepines, were found to be risk factors for drug dependent death. Fareed *et al* looked at chronic conditions as risk factors for premature death among older heroin addicts on MMT.⁹⁷ Diabetes mellitus, liver and gastrointestinal cancers were found to be associated with increased mortality. However, patients who remained in treatment showed significant improvement related to drug use, psychiatric, medical and legal problems compared to those who dropped out.

In the cross-register study, we did not exhibit information on the OMT drug the patients were on. More recent studies have investigated differences between methadone and buprenorphine maintenance treatment with regards to mortality. Bell and his colleagues published two large cross-register studies in 2009. In the first of these studies, they compared retention in OMT and mortality after initial entry to either methadone or buprenorphine treatment.⁹⁸ During induction, the risk of death was found to be lower with buprenorphine than methadone. The overall risk of death was lowest during treatment and significantly higher during the first 12 months after leaving both methadone and buprenorphine treatment. In the second paper, they looked at the risk of overdose whilst in OMT.⁹⁹ This study involved 13 718 patients on methadone and 2716 on buprenorphine. The main finding was that the risk of overdose death per thousand people in treatment was higher for methadone than buprenorphine (RR 4.25).

A Cochrane review published in 2009 by Mattick *et al* investigated methadone maintenance therapy (MMT) versus no opioid replacement therapy for opioid dependence.¹⁰⁰ They included 11 randomised clinical trials (RCTs), of which two were double-blind. The review concluded that MMT appeared statistically more effective on retaining patients in treatment and in suppressing heroin use.

However, they did not find significant differences in criminal activity or mortality. As mentioned in the introduction, RCTs may not be the most suitable design to study long-term effects of OMT on mortality, due to ethical aspects, as well as small number of participants and short follow-up periods. A recently published large Australian cross-register study involved 42 676 people entering OMT between 1985 and 2006.¹⁰¹ The researchers here concluded that mortality was higher out of treatment than in, particularly during the first weeks out of OMT. During induction to treatment, mortality was elevated for methadone but not for buprenorphine, supporting the results of Bell *et al.* Compared to out of treatment, the overall mortality in treatment was reduced regardless of whether patients were receiving methadone or buprenorphine. Across the entire cohort, OMT was estimated to produce a 29% reduction in mortality.

Methodological considerations

The cross-register approach chosen in this study allowed for investigation of mortality differences prior to, during and post OMT, including an intention-to-treat perspective. It also enabled the separation of overall mortality into overdose and somatic mortality within the different groups. The use of intention-to-treat in this area of research may be regarded controversial. OMT is often considered to be a life long treatment. This does not, however, necessarily justify exclusion of mortality in treatment dropouts when estimating the benefits. Leakage of OMT drugs from the programme to persons outside OMT is a well-recognised problem that needs to be counteracted. Mortality reduction in treatment is therefore only one of several goals in an OMT programme, and has to be weighed against other issues. This underlines the importance of knowing the potential in reducing mortality risk for an entire population of opioid addicts eligible for OMT, not only those currently in treatment.

Cross-register studies are rational and efficient in evaluating mortality and other aspects of OMT. However, there are currently only a few countries, mostly Scandinavian, where such national registers exist and are feasible for this approach. The high quality of the data from the death register in Norway adds strength to our study. However, it is important to note that the mortality cause is dependent on the

individual practice of the doctor submitting the death certificate.

Misclassification of a true suicide as overdose would tend to cause overestimation of overdose as a cause of death. A limitation to the dataset is the lack of information about individual type of maintenance drug or dose. During the observation period for this study, methadone was the most widely used medication, whereas buprenorphine introduced in 2001 was used by 23% by the end of 2003. Additionally, no information on the subjects' drug use history was available, nor whether termination of treatment was voluntary or not. The relatively high age of the cohort may be explained by the age limit of 25 years. Notably, age was measured at the end of the observation time, not at inclusion.

Register-based studies are clearly dependent on the quality of the registers employed. In this study, the national OMT patient register was based on electronic patient records information from the regional OMT centres. For patients in treatment and for the post-treatment group, we believe that the information is up to date and of good quality, as budgets and monitoring of expenses are based on continuously updating the data. Despite thorough control of each individual that did not enter treatment (ineligible), some cases might wrongly have been classified as belonging to the pre-treatment group. Since the ineligible for treatment group had a low crude mortality rate, misclassifications could deflate mortality rates for the pre-treatment group. As the issue were thoroughly examined and manually checked, we find it unlikely that results were significantly affected.

The study population represents those who were found eligible to OMT in Norway during the study period. At the time this comprised between 1/3 and ½ of all injecting opioid dependants in Norway, characterised by a long-term and severe opioid dependence syndrome. As OMT programmes vary internationally in terms of different inclusion policy, availability and capacity, this will affect the degree to which the results apply to populations in other nations. The absolute levels of mortality reduction will vary accordingly across various populations. We believe that the relative level of risk reduction of mortality as a result of OMT is more comparable between different study groups, than the absolute mortality levels are.

ECG assessment study

Discussion of results

Eight of the 173 methadone maintenance patients (4.6 %) had an unequivocally prolonged QTc time above 500 msec, which placed them at increased risk of cardiac arrhythmia and TdP.⁴³ Methadone dose was found to be positively related to QTc prolongation, and all of the eight cases of with QTc prolongation greater than 500 msec were patients receiving methadone doses of 120 mg or more. The finding of a dose-dependent relationship between methadone and QTc prolongation points to causality and is consistent with results previously reported in other studies.^{56;58} No association was found between the QTc prolongation and age. We hypothesised that it was possible that the amount of time spent in methadone treatment might have had a cumulative effect on the QTc interval, but no such association was detected. In other studies, women have been found to be at greater risk for QTc prolongation than men.^{102;103} We did not detect such a difference.

An Australian study looked at the QTc interval of OMT maintained subjects on moderate doses; n = 35 with mean daily methadone dose 69 mg (standard deviation +/- 29 mg) and n= 19 with mean daily buprenorphine dose 11 mg (standard deviation +/- 5 mg).¹⁰⁴ Despite methadone users having a longer QTc interval than the buprenorphine users, these were all well below 500 msec. They subsequently concluded that methadone and buprenorphine at commonly used daily doses remain safe agents for OMT. A study by Krantz investigated the QTc interval changes at baseline and 6 months after methadone induction.¹⁰⁵ The results highlighted the heterogeneity of QTc interval changes, where subjects exceeding 500 msec increased from 0 % to 2 %. Fonseca and colleagues performed a cross-sectional study among 109 methadone maintained subjects.¹⁰⁶ They found that 1.8 % exhibited a QTc interval above 500 msec and this was associated with higher daily methadone dose (median 120 mg). A dose-dependent correlation was observed. In terms of plasma concentrations, no association was found between plasma concentration of (R)-methadone and (S)-methadone and the length of the QTc interval. However, a recently published study separated (R,S)-methadone into (R)and (S)-methadone, and looked at the two components effect on the QTc interval.¹⁰⁷ (R)-methadone mainly mediates the opioid effect, whereas (S)-methadone is a more

potent blocker of the HERG potassium channel, which can cause QTc prolongation. They found that substituting (R,S)-methadone with (R)-methadone significantly reduced the length of the QTc interval.

Methodological considerations

In this study we used a cross-sectional approach. All the information was therefore gathered at the same time, as opposed to a cohort study, which follows individuals over time. The cross-sectional approach is not associated with the many difficulties affecting other designs, such as loss to follow-up and recall bias. There are, however, some problems associated with this type of study.¹⁰⁸ Sample selection must be considered. Often the interpretation of results is extended widely, despite research being carried out on a limited number of subjects. As the validity of the extrapolation depends on the representativeness of the sample, a random selection of individuals is the ideal method. Another problem faced by this approach is linked to the response rate, and indeed volunteer bias may occur. This is particularly well-recognised when surveys are distributed by post. In any study efforts should be made to increase the response rate as much as possible. Finally, the problem of cause or effect might occur with cross-sectional designs. Some case-control studies face similar problems, and a prospective study is the ideal way to investigate causation.

The final sample included approximately 20 % of the Oslo OMT population, which did not differ in characteristics from the OMT population of Oslo as a whole. Most patients asked to participate appeared keen to have their heart checked and there were less than 10% who declined participation. We do not have any data on these individuals, but there was little to suggest from our observations that these were any different from the ones who participated. The external validity of our findings therefore seems well maintained.

A limitation associated with our data is the lack of additional information regarding the patients' concomitant use of illegal substances. The ability of cocaine to acutely prolong the QTc interval was recognised many years ago.¹⁰⁹ More recent studies have supported this finding.^{110;111} Similarly, Haning and Goebert demonstrated QTc

prolongation at an abnormally high rate among methamphetamine dependents.¹¹² It is worth noting that, according to the Norwegian annual evaluations, in our sample and in the Norwegian OMT population as a whole, the use of cocaine and/or methamphetamine was close to non-existent, both in the QTc study period⁸³ and the mortality assessment period.⁸² Another limitation of this study is that we do not have information about the nutritional status and life conditions of the patients in our sample, and severe malnutrition with hypokalemia can give rise to prolongation of the QTc interval.¹¹³ Also, in the QTc assessment study the number of patients on buprenorphine was low (n=27). This makes it difficult to compare the two OMT drugs and to draw any firm conclusions with regards to the cardiac properties of buprenorphine. It adds strength to our study that all the ECGs were examined by the same cardiologist, who was blinded for all patient details, including type of OMT medication, as well as dose, age, gender, and time in treatment.

Prolonged QTc interval mortality study

Discussion of results

The estimated mortality potentially attributable to QTc prolongation was 0.06 deaths per 100 patient OMT years. The results also show that only one unexplained death occurred during the first month of OMT, which gave a figure of 1 death per 3850 OMT initiations. To our knowledge, this is the first attempt to estimate the potential impact on mortality from QTc prolongation in a large, national sample of OMT patients. These calculations add important information to the field as they indicate that the extent to which methadone gives rise to ventricular arrhythmias resulting in sudden death in OMT appears extremely low.

Methodological considerations

This study used the same data from the cross-register mortality study. The strengths stemming from large numbers in complete national registers therefore apply. Nevertheless, the potential mortality attributable to QTc prolongation should be interpreted with caution. It is an important point methodologically that only about one

third of the death certificates were supplemented with information supported by autopsy and toxicological analyses, hence the other 2/3 of cases are based on "external" examinations with the risk of misclassification. Deaths among patients with a known history of opiate addiction may well be misclassified as overdose rather than for example suicides or sudden cardiac deaths, as previously discussed by Gossop et al.⁷ The mortality estimation was made by including the two cases of overdose without post-mortem and the two deaths of unknown cause. It is possible that not all of these four cases occurred as a result of ventricular arrhythmia associated with methadone, and in that case, the estimate of 0.06 deaths per 100 patient OMT years would represent an overestimation of the actual impact of QTc prolongation on mortality. Similarly, potential misclassification of the cause of death could also involve the deaths not included in the calculation. We have no information indicating differential classification between the outcome groups. In the absence of any evidence to support this, we believe that this is unlikely to have introduced any substantial bias into our reported calculation of mortality. Another limitation to this prolonged QTc interval mortality estimation is that the dataset did not provide relevant information on somatic health status, concurrent drug use or type of OMT drug and dose for the group in treatment.

Cardiac and genetic investigations and management study

Discussion of results

The main findings of this study involved identification of two heterozygous LQTS mutations carriers. QTc intervals fluctuated widely over 24 hours and during exercise for all the patients, ranging from below 500 msec to above 600 msec. Only one patient switched to buprenorphine and started on a beta blocker. None of the other patients wanted to switch to buprenorphine or take other cardiac protective measures.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to identify LQTS mutation as a potential preexisting and contributing risk factor of QTc prolongation in OMT patients. Among the seven patients with QTc prolongation tested for LQTS, two heterozygous mutation carriers were identified. Both had previously experienced cardiac symptoms prior to and during OMT. However, neither of the patients had ever had their QTc interval measured or had other cardiac investigations prior to the study. Family history did not prove a useful marker of mutation status, as it was negative for both patients. No other risk factors for QTc prolongation were identified.

The results of the cardiac investigations illustrate the diurnal fluctuations of the QTc interval. ¹¹⁴ In this study we recorded 24 hour ECGs, in which QTc intervals varied between markedly prolonged to below or down to 500 msec for all of the six patients. The exercise test further indicated the changes in QTc interval that can occur with increased heart rate. ¹¹⁵ Three patients without LQTS mutations detected, had reductions to their QTc interval from above to significantly below 500 msec with increased heart rate, illustrating the reverse frequency-dependent effect of drug-induced QTc prolongation. ¹¹⁶

One male was found to carry a heterozygous mutation in the KCNQ1 gene, known as LQTS1. He had earlier suffered two cardiac arrests requiring resuscitation during heroin withdrawal. Without knowledge of his genetic condition, he had switched to buprenorphine prior to the cardiac outpatient appointment. During the 24 hour tape recoding, the QTc interval fluctuated between normal values of 444 msec up to 601 msec at maximum heart rate. LQTS1 has been found to be more sensitive than LQTS2 and LQTS3 to sympathetic stimulation.⁷¹ The underlying LQTS1 mutation, in combination with extreme stimulation of the sympathetic nervous system during heroin withdrawal, may have triggered the two episodes of cardiac arrest. As this resting QTc interval was normal on buprenorphine, it is uncertain whether the patient's genetic mutation would have been detected if he had not been treated with methadone when participating in the original study. Hinterseer et al has recently shown that increased short-term variability of QT interval of > 4.9 msec has a sensitivity of 83 % and specificity of 68 % in identifying new LQTS mutation carriers in people with a normal QTc interval.¹¹⁷ They concluded that this non-invasive investigation could form a marker for diagnostic screening before results of genetic testing are available.

Clinical managerial issues were highlighted in this study. Only the patient with LQTS1 mutation, who already had switched to buprenorphine, was willing to take a

beta-blocker. None of the other patients wanted to switch to buprenorphine, reduce the methadone dose or take other cardiac protective measures, despite thorough information and strong medical advice. The cardiac symptoms experienced over many years by the two LQTS mutation carriers, highlights the importance of history taking prior to OMT.

Methodological considerations

The number of participants in this study was low. However, the identification of these patients required recruiting from a QTc assessment study with a much larger sample of 200 OMT patients, as the prevalence of QTc interval > 500 msec found to be 4.6 % among methadone maintained patients.⁸⁷ Given the nature of OMT in Oslo, the goal of reaching 200 OMT patients and recording their ECGs was satisfactorily achieved by stretching our resources.

This study is limited by the reduced sensitivity of a single ECG recording. Research has shown that 10-36 % of heterozygous mutation carriers are silent carriers and have a normal QTc interval on their ECG.¹¹⁸ Consequently, there may have been missed cases of LQTS mutations among the remaining 165 methadone and 27 buprenorphine patients with QTc intervals < 500 msec in the QTc assessment study. This is indicated by the fact that the patient with the LQTS1 mutation exhibited a normal QTc interval at rest after switching from methadone to buprenorphine. Finally, even in patients referred for genetic testing following the most stringent criteria, a mutation is identified in approximately 70 % of the cases.^{119;120} It implies that a substantial proportion of LQTS mutations have not yet been discovered and are subsequently not tested for.⁷¹ In the future, it is expected that more mutations in LQTS candidate genes will be detected.

Ethical considerations in the research

In all research involving humans, ethical considerations safeguarding the subjects involved must be incorporated during the planning and conduction of a study.

Opioid dependent individuals form a particularly vulnerable group, which are often found to be in an exposed situation with increased prevalence of somatic diseases and mental illness.¹⁰ Their need for treatment and desire for change are often substantial, but this may at the same time leave them more easily exposed to exploit. It is therefore crucial to base the treatment offered on evidence from research, with knowledge of associated risk factors and outcome. The cross-register mortality study is ethically important, as is yields information on OMT on crude measures of mortality and overdose prior to, during and after treatment. As a cross-register approach was used, this study did not involve any type of intervention for the patients.

In the ECG assessment study the patients were approached for participation after being thoroughly informed about the purpose of the ECG recording. The aspect of voluntary participation was emphasised and patients had to give informed consent before participating. The finding of a very low mortality rate that could potentially be attributable to QTc prolongation in OMT, was clinically important and confirms that patients are not being put on a treatment which itself carries a high mortality risk. In the final study the same approach with informed consent was practiced. Patients who decided to participate received cardiac and genetic investigations and were offered professional cardiac management based on findings by a senior cardiology consultant.

Implications for policy and treatment

The main finding of decreased mortality for patients in OMT compared to the period prior to and after treatment clearly has implications for OMT policy. The increased mortality, and particularly overdose rate, following treatment should warrant caution with regards to involuntary ending OMT. As death from somatic causes was most common whilst in treatment, this should be an indicator of the burden of somatic illnesses these patients carry. OMT provides an opportunity to address these problems, for a group of patients who otherwise rarely seek the help of health professionals. As of 2010 new guidelines for OMT have been implemented in Norway.¹²¹ Compared to the previous guidelines, the age requirement has now been removed and although OMT should as a general rule not be the first treatment of

choice, failed attempts at abstinence-oriented treatment are no longer a requirement. Continuous drug-use or general lack of compliance with treatment requirements is not alone a satisfactory reason for involuntary eviction from OMT.

Our estimations indicate that the maximum mortality attributable to QTc prolongation and ventricular arrhythmia in opioid maintenance treatment is very low, despite a prevalence of QTc interval above 500 msec of nearly 5 % among methadone patients and indications of a dose-dependent relation.⁸⁷ Agreement on safe and rational cardiac management of methadone patients has so far proven contentious. In Norway this discussion was raised in 2007 in the Journal of the Norwegian Medical Association by two general practitioners, who claimed that QTc prolongation due to methadone could be a cause of sudden cardiac deaths in OMT.¹²² They advocated ECG screening prior to initiation of methadone maintenance treatment. After a review of the evidence based literature on this topic, an expert team recommended instead that ECG should be recorded during treatment and particularly if there were other risk factors for QTc prolongation present.¹²³ This was largely based on research done by Krantz, who was one of the first cardiologists to describe the phenomenon. Annals of internal medicine published in 2009 new recommendations by a team of researchers and clinicians, including the same Krantz. This time advocating a pre-treatment ECG, a follow-up ECG within 30 days and then annually.¹²⁴ At present, however, there are no widely accepted guidelines, and views regarding ECG screening are conflicting.69

Our findings do not point to ECG recording prior to OMT as a life-saving, cost-beneficial screening program. Rather, in the absence of firm guidelines, we suggest a practical approach for clinicians. A past medical history, focused particularly on cardiac symptoms and disorders, should always be obtained prior to treatment with methadone. If indicated by the history or in the presence of other known risk factors for QTc prolongation, the drug of choice is primarily buprenorphine. The patient should not be started on methadone without cardiac protection. An ECG, preferably over 24 hours, should be recorded at this stage. If this reveals QTc prolongation, the patients should be referred for genetic testing if available, along the same referral criteria as any other individual with similar findings. Further research should aim to clarify the costs and benefits of ECG screening in OMT prior to potential implementation.

References

- (1) World Health Organization. Substance abuse Opiates. <u>http://www</u> who int/substance_abuse/facts/opiates/en/index html
- (2) European monitoring centre for drugs and drug addiction (EMCCDA). Drug situation in Europe: Opioid use and drug injection. <u>http://www</u> emcdda europa eu/situation/opioids/3
- (3) Amato L, Davoli M, Perucci CA, Ferri M, Faggiano F, Mattick RP. An overview of systematic reviews of the effectiveness of opiate maintenance therapies: available evidence to inform clinical practice and research. J Subst Abuse Treat 2005; 28(4):321-329.
- (4) Hser YI, Anglin MD, Powers K. A 24-Year Follow-up of California narcotics addicts. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1993; 50(7):577-584.
- (5) Bargagli AM, Hickman M, Davoli M, Perucci CA, Schifano P, Buster M et al. Drug-related mortality and its impact on adult mortality in eight European countries. *European Journal of Public Health* 2006; 16(2):198-202.
- (6) Rossow I, Lauritzen G. Balancing on the edge of death: suicide attempts and life-threatening overdoses among drug addicts. *Addiction* 1999; 94(2):209-219.
- (7) Gossop M, Stewart D, Treacy S, Marsden J. A prospective study of mortality among drug misusers during a 4-year period after seeking treatment. *Addiction* 2002; 97(1):39-47.
- (8) Darke S, Hall W. Heroin overdose: Research and evidence-based intervention. *Journal of Urban Health-Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine* 2003; 80(2):189-200.
- (9) Digiusto E, Shakeshaft A, Ritter A, O'Brien S, Mattick RP. Serious adverse events in the australian national evaluation of pharmacotherapies for opioid dependence (NEPOD). Addiction 2004; 99(4):450-460.
- (10) Darke S, Degenhardt L, Mattick R. Mortality amongst illicit drug users. Camebridge: Camebridge University Press; 2007.
- (11) Strang J, McCambridge J, Best D, Beswick T, Bearn J, Rees S et al. Loss of tolerance and overdose mortality after inpatient opiate detoxification: follow up study. *Br Med J* 2003; 326(7396):959-960.
- (12) Ravndal E, Amundsen EJ. Mortality among drug users after discharge from inpatient treatment: An 8-year prospective study. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2010; 108:65-69.

- (13) Seaman SR, Brettle RP, Gore SM. Mortality from overdose among injecting drug users recently released from prison: database linkage study. *Br Med J* 1998; 316(7129):426-428.
- (14) Binswanger IA. Release from prison A high risk of death for former inmates (vol 356, pg 157, 2007). N Engl J Med 2007; 356(5):536.
- (15) Handal KA, Schauben JL, Salamone FR. Naloxone. Ann Emerg Med 1983; 12(7):438-445.
- (16) Minozzi S, Amato L, Vecchi S, Davoli M, Kirchmayer U, Verster A. Oral naltrexone maintenance treatment for opioid dependence. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2006;(1).
- (17) Lobmaier P, Kornor H, Kunoe N, Bjorndal A. Sustained-release naltrexone for opioid dependence. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2008;(2).
- (18) Lobmaier P, Gossop M, Waal H, Bramness J. The pharmacological treatment of opioid addiction - a clinical perspective. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 2010; 66(6):537-45.
- (19) Brown R, Kraus C, Fleming M, Reddy S. Methadone: applied pharmacology and use as adjunctive treatment in chronic pain. *Postgrad Med J* 2004; 80(949):654-659.
- (20) Dole VP, Nyswande M. A medical treatment for diacetylmorphine (heroin) addiction A clinical trial with methadone hydrochloride. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 1965; 193(8):646-&.
- (21) Marsch LA. The efficacy of methadone maintenance interventions in reducing illicit opiate use, HIV risk behavior and criminality: a meta-analysis. *Addiction* 1998; 93(4):515-532.
- (22) Connock M, Juarez-Garcia A, Jowett S, Frew E, Liu Z, Taylor R et al. Methadone and buprenorphine for the management of opioid dependence: a systematic review and economic evaluation. *Health Technology Assessment* 2007; 11(9):1-171.
- (23) Mattick RP, Kimber J, Breen C, Davoli M. Buprenorphine maintenance versus placebo or methadone maintenance for opioid dependence. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2008;(2).
- (24) Walsh SL, Preston KL, Bigelow GE, Stitzer ML. Acute administration of buprenorphine in humans - Partial agonist and blockade effects. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 1995; 274(1):361-372.
- (25) Fiellin DA. Buprenorphine: Effective treatment of opioid addiction starts in the office. Am Fam Physician 2006; 73(9):1513-1514.

- (26) van den Brink W, Haasen C. Evidenced-based treatment of opioid-dependent patients. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry-Revue Canadienne de Psychiatrie* 2006; 51(10):635-646.
- (27) Zador D. Methadone maintenance: making it better. *Addiction* 2007; 102(3):350-351.
- (28) Gunne LM, Gronbladh L. The Swedish methadone-maintenance program A controlled study. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 1981; 7(3):249-256.
- (29) Brugal MT, Domingo-Salvany A, Puig R, Barrio G, Garcia de Olalla P, de la Fuente L. Evaluating the impact of methadone maintenance programmes on mortality due to overdose and aids in a cohort of heroin users in Spain. *Addiction* 2005; 100(7):981-989.
- (30) Dole VP, Robinson JW, Orraca J, Towns E, Searcy P, Caine E. Methadone treatment of randomly selected criminal addicts. *N Engl J Med* 1969; 280(25):1372-&.
- (31) Strain EC, Stitzer ML, Liebson IA, Bigelow GE. Dose-response effects of methadone in the treatment of opioid dependence. *Ann Intern Med* 1993; 119(1):23-27.
- (32) Faggiano F, Vigna-Taglianti F, Versino E, Lemma P. Methadone maintenance at different dosages for opioid dependence. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2003;(3):CD002208.
- (33) Kakko J, Svanborg KD, Kreek MJ, Heilig M. 1-year retention and social function after buprenorphine-assisted relapse prevention treatment for heroin dependence in Sweden: a randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 2003; 361(9358):662-668.
- (34) Kleinman PH, Lukoff IF, Kail BL. Magic fix Critical analysis of methadonemaintenance treatment. *Soc Probl* 1977; 25(2):208-214.
- (35) Nich C, Carroll KM. 'Intention-to-treat' meets 'missing data': implications of alternate strategies for analyzing clinical trials data. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2002; 68(2):121-130.
- (36) Termorshuizen F, Krol A, Prins M, van Ameijden EJC. Long-term outcome of chronic drug use - The Amsterdam Cohort Study among Drug Users. *Am J Epidemiol* 2005; 161(3):271-279.
- (37) Soyka M, Apelt SM, Lieb M, Wittchen HU. One-year mortality rates of patients receiving methadone and buprenorphine maintenance therapy - A nationally representative cohort study in 2694 patients. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* 2006; 26(6):657-660.
- (38) Fugelstad A, Stenbacka M, Leifman A, Nylander M, Thiblin I. Methadone maintenance treatment: the balance between life-saving treatment and fatal poisonings. *Addiction* 2007; 102(3):406-412.

- (39) Forening for utgivelse av Norsk legemiddelhåndbok. Norsk legemiddelhåndbok for helsepersonell 2007. Oslo: Fagbokforlaget AS; 2007.
- (40) Rang HP, Dale MM, Ritter JM. Pharmacology. 5th ed. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 2003.
- (41) Hampton JR. The ECG made easy. 5th edition ed. London: Churchill Livingstone; 1998.
- (42) Vincent GM. Long QT syndrome. Cardiol Clin 2000; 18(2):309-325.
- (43) Montanez A, Ruskin JN, Hebert PR, Lamas GA, Hennekens CH. Prolonged QTc interval and risks of total and cardiovascular mortality and sudden death in the general population - A review and qualitative overview of the prospective cohort studies. *Arch Intern Med* 2004; 164(9):943-948.
- (44) Chiang CE. Congenital and acquired long QT syndrome. Current concepts and management. *Cardiol Rev* 2004; 12(4):222-234.
- (45) Cavero I, Mestre M, Guillon JM, Crumb W. Drugs that prolong QT interval as an unwanted effect: assessing their likelihood of inducing hazardous cardiac dysrhythmiasw. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* 2000; 1(5):947-973.
- (46) Faber TS, Zehender M, Just H. Drug-induced torsade-de-pointes Incidence, management and prevention. *Drug Saf* 1994; 11(6):463-476.
- (47) Zemrak WR, Kenna GA. Association of antipsychotic and antidepressant drugs with Q-T interval prolongation. *Am J Health Syst Pharm* 2008; 65(11):1029-1038.
- (48) Sicouri S, Antzelevitch C. Sudden cardiac death secondary to antidepressant and antipsychotic drugs. *Expert Opinion on Drug Safety* 2008; 7(2):181-194.
- (49) Deamer RL, Wilson DR, Clark DS, Prichard JG. Torsades de pointes associated with high dose levomethadyl acetate (ORLAAM). *J Addict Dis* 2001; 20(4):7-14.
- (50) Krantz MJ, Lewkowiez L, Hays H, Woodroffe MA, Robertson AD, Mehler PS. Torsade de Pointes associated with very-high-dose methadone. *Ann Intern Med* 2002; 137(6):501-504.
- (51) Martell BA, Arnsten JH, Ray B, Gourevitch MN. The impact of methadone induction on cardiac conduction in opiate users. *Ann Intern Med* 2003; 139(2):154-155.
- (52) Gil M, Sala M, Anguera I, Chapinal O, Cervantes M, Guma JR et al. QT prolongation and Torsades de Pointes in patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus and treated with methadone. *Am J Cardiol* 2003; 92(8):995-997.

- (53) Cruciani RA, Sekine R, Homel P, Lussier D, Yap Y, Suzuki Y et al. Measurement of QTc in patients receiving chronic methadone therapy. *J Pain Symptom Manage* 2005; 29(4):385-391.
- (54) Maremmani I, Pacini M, Cesaroni C, Lovrecic M, Perugi G, Tagliamonte A. QTc interval prolongation in patients on long-term methadone maintenance therapy. *Eur Addict Res* 2005; 11(1):44-49.
- (55) Peles E, Bodner G, Kreek MJ, Rados V, Adelson M. Corrected-QT intervals as related to methadone dose and serum level in methadone maintenance treatment (MMT) patients - a cross-sectional study. *Addiction* 2007; 102(2):289-300.
- (56) Ehret GB, Voide C, Gex-Fabry M, Chabert J, Shah D, Broers B et al. Druginduced long QT syndrome in injection drug users receiving methadone - High frequency in hospitalized patients and risk factors. *Arch Intern Med* 2006; 166(12):1280-1287.
- (57) Wedam EF, Bigelow GE, Johnson RE, Nuzzo PA, Haigney MCP. QT-Interval effects of methadone, levomethadyl, and buprenorphine in a randomized trial. *Arch Intern Med* 2007; 167(22):2469-2475.
- (58) Krantz MJ, Kutinsky IB, Robertson AD, Mehler PS. Dose-related effects of methadone on QT prolongation in a series of patients with Torsade de Pointes. *Pharmacotherapy* 2003; 23(6):802-805.
- (59) Kornick CA, Kilborn MJ, Santiago-Palma J, Schulman G, Thaler HT, Keefe DL et al. QTc interval prolongation associated with intravenous methadone. *Pain* 2003; 105(3):499-506.
- (60) Katchman AN, McGroary KA, Kilborn MJ, Kornick CA, Manfredi PL, Woosley RL et al. Influence of opioid agonists on cardiac human ether-a-go-go related gene K+ currents. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 2002; 303(2):688-694.
- (61) Auriacombe M, Franques P, Tignol J. Deaths attributable to methadone vs buprenorphine in France. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 2001; 285(1):45.
- (62) Krantz MJ, Garcia JA, Mehler PS. Effects of buprenorphine on cardiac repolarization in a patient with methadone-related torsade de pointes. *Pharmacotherapy* 2005; 25(4):611-614.
- (63) Walker PW, Klein D, Kasza L. High dose methadone and ventricular arrhythmias: a report of three cases. *Pain* 2003; 103(3):321-324.
- (64) Atkinson D, Dunne A, Parker M. Torsades de pointes and self-terminating ventricular fibrillation in a prescription methadone user. *Anaesthesia* 2007; 62(9):952-955.
- (65) Pimentel L, Mayo D. Chronic methadone therapy complicated by torsades de pointes: A case report. J Emerg Med 2008; 34(3):287-290.

- (66) Fanoe S, Hvidt C, Ege P, Jensen GB. Syncope and QT prolongation among patients treated with methadone for heroin dependence in the city of Copenhagen. *Heart* 2007; 93(9):1051-1055.
- (67) Chugh SS, Socoteanu C, Reinier K, Waltz J, Jui J, Gunson K. A communitybased evaluation of sudden death associated with therapeutic levels of methadone. *Am J Med* 2008; 121(1):66-71.
- (68) Pearson EC, Woosley RL. QT prolongation and torsades de pointes among methadone users: reports to the FDA spontaneous reporting system. *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety* 2005; 14(11):747-753.
- (69) Stringer J, Welsh C, Tommasello A. Methadone-associated Q-T interval prolongation and torsades de pointes. *Am J Health Syst Pharm* 2009; 66(9):825-833.
- (70) De Ferrari GM, Schwartz PJ. Long QT syndrome, a purely electrical disease? Not anymore. *Eur Heart J* 2009; 30(3):253-255.
- (71) Markiewicz-Loskot G, Moric-Janiszewska E, Mazurek U. The Risk of Cardiac Events and Genotype-Based Management of LQTS Patients. *Annals of Noninvasive Electrocardiology* 2009; 14(1):86-92.
- (72) January CT, Gong QM, Zhou ZF. Long QT syndrome: Cellular basis and arrhythmia mechanism in LQT2. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2000; 11(12):1413-1418.
- (73) Berge KE, Haugaa KH, Fruh A, Anfinsen OG, Gjesdal K, Siem G et al. Molecular genetic analysis of long QT syndrome in Norway indicating a high prevalence of heterozygous mutation carriers. *Scandinavian Journal of Clinical* & Laboratory Investigation 2008; 68(5):362-U28.
- (74) Sauer AJ, Moss AJ, McNitt S, Peterson DR, Zareba W, Robinson JL et al. Long QT syndrome in adults. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2007; 49(3):329-337.
- (75) Viskin S. Cardiac pacing in the long QT syndrome: Review of available data and practical recommendations. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2000; 11(5):593-600.
- (76) Schwartz PJ, Priori SG, Cerrone M, Spazzolini C, Odero A, Napolitano C et al. Left cardiac sympathetic denervation in the management of high-risk patients affected by the long-QT syndrome. *Circulation* 2004; 109(15):1826-1833.
- (77) Schwartz PJ, Moss AJ, Vincent GM, Crampton RS. Diagnostic-criteria for the long QT syndrome - An Update. *Circulation* 1993; 88(2):782-784.
- (78) Brink PA, Crotti L, Corfield V, Goosen A, Durrheim G, Hedley P et al. Phenotypic variability and unusual clinical severity of congenital long-QT syndrome in a founder population. *Circulation* 2005; 112(17):2602-2610.

- (79) Schwartz PJ. The congenital long QT syndromes from genotype to phenotype: clinical implications. *J Intern Med* 2006; 259(1):39-47.
- (80) Waal H. Merits and problems in high-threshold methadone maintenance treatment - Evaluation of medication-assisted rehabilitation in Norway 1998-2004. *Eur Addict Res* 2007; 13(2):66-73.
- (81) Bretteville-Jensen AL, Amundsen EJ. Omfang av sprøytemisbruk i Norge [Extent of injecting drug abuse in Norway]. 5. 2006. Oslo, SIRUS.
- (82) Hansen MB, Kornør H, Waal H. Status rapport 2003 (OMT in Norway. Evaluation report 2003). 1/2003. 2003. Oslo, Norwegian Centre for Addiction Research.
- (83) Waal H, Clausen T, Håseth A, Lillevold P. LAR i Norge. Statusrapport 2007 (OMT in Norway. Evaluation report 2007). SREAF 1/2008. 2008. Oslo, Norwegian Centre for Addiction Research.
- (84) SSB. Statistics Norway. http://www ssb no/dodsarsak/
- (85) World Health Organization. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems. 10th Revision. 2006. Ref Type: Report
- (86) Bazett HC. An analysis of the time-relations of electrocardiograms. *Heart-A Journal for the Study of the Circulation* 1920; 7(4):353-370.
- (87) Anchersen K, Clausen T, Gossop M, Hansteen V, Waal H. Prevalence and clinical relevance of corrected QT interval prolongation during methadone and buprenorphine treatment: a mortality assessment study. *Addiction* 2009; 104(6):993-999.
- (88) Ramensky V, Bork P, Sunyaev S. Human non-synonymous SNPs: server and survey. Nucleic Acids Res 2002; 30(17):3894-3900.
- (89) van Ameijden EJC, Langendam MW, Coutinho RA. Dose-effect relationship between overdose mortality and prescribed methadone dosage in lowthreshold maintenance programs. *Addict Behav* 1999; 24(4):559-563.
- (90) Langendam MW, van Brussel GHA, Coutinho RA, van Ameijden EJC. The impact of harm-reduction-based methadone treatment on mortality among heroin users. *Am J Public Health* 2001; 91(5):774-780.
- (91) Caplehorn JRM, Dalton MSYN, Haldar F, Petrenas AM, Nisbet JG. Methadone maintenance and addicts' risk of fatal heroin overdose. Substance Use & Misuse 1996; 31(2):177-196.
- (92) SIRUS. The drug situation in Norway 2006. SIRUS, editor. 87. 2006. Oslo, Annual report to the EMCDDA.

- (93) Fischer B, Rehm J, Kim G, Kirst M. Eyes wide shut? A conceptual and empirical critique of methadone maintenance treatment. *Eur Addict Res* 2005; 11(1):1-9.
- (94) Skodol AE, Gunderson JG, Pfohl B, Widiger TA, Livesley WJ, Siever LJ. The borderline diagnosis I: Psychopathology comorbidity, and personaltity structure. *Biol Psychiatry* 2002; 51(12):936-950.
- (95) Clausen T, Waal H, Thoresen M, Gossop M. Mortality among opiate users: opioid maintenance therapy, age and causes of death. *Addiction* 2009; 104(8):1356-1362.
- (96) McCowan C, Kidd B, Fahey T. Factors associated with mortality in Scottish patients receiving methadone in primary care: retrospective cohort study. *Br Med J* 2009; 338.
- (97) Fareed A, Casarella J, Amar R, Vayalapalli S, Drexler K. Benefits of retention in methadone maintenance and chronic medical conditions as risk factors for premature death among older heroin addicts. *Journal of Psychiatric Practice* 2009; 15(3):227-234.
- (98) Bell J, Trinh L, Butler B, Randall D, Rubin G. Comparing retention in treatment and mortality in people after initial entry to methadone and buprenorphine treatment. *Addiction* 2009; 104(7):1193-1200.
- (99) Bell JR, Butler B, Lawrance A, Batey R, Salmelainen P. Comparing overdose mortality associated with methadone and buprenorphine treatment. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2009; 104(1-2):73-77.
- (100) Mattick RP, Breen C, Kimber J, Davoli M. Methadone maintenance therapy versus no opioid replacement therapy for opioid dependence. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2009;(3).
- (101) Degenhardt L, Randall D, Hall W, Law M, Butler T, Burns L. Mortality among clients of a state-wide opioid pharmacotherapy program over 20 years: Risk factors and lives saved. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2009; 105(1-2):9-15.
- (102) Makkar RR, Fromm BS, Steinman RT, Meissner MD, Lehmann MH. Female gender as a risk factor for torsades-de-pointes associated with cardiovascular drugs. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 1993; 270(21):2590-2597.
- (103) Benoit SR, Mendelsohn AB, Nourjah P, Staffa JA, Graham DJ. Risk factors for prolonged QTc among US adults: Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation* 2005; 12(4):363-368.
- (104) Athanasos P, Farquharson AL, Compton P, Psaltis P, Hay J. Electrocardiogram characteristics of methadone and buprenorphine maintained subjects. *J Addict Dis* 2008; 27(3):31-35.

- (105) Krantz MJ. Heterogeneous Impact of Methadone on the QTc Interval: What Are the Practical Implications? *J Addict Dis* 2008; 27(4):5-9.
- (106) Fonseca F, Marti-Almor J, Pastor A, Cladellas M, Farre M, de la Torre R et al. Prevalence of long QTc interval in methadone maintenance patients. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2009; 99(1-3):327-332.
- (107) Ansermot N, Albayrak O, Schlapfer J, Crettol S, Croquette-Krokar M, Bourquin M et al. Substitution of (R,S)-methadone by (R)-methadone impact on QTc interval. Arch Intern Med 2010; 170(6):529-536.
- (108) Altman DG. Practical statistics for medical research. London: Chapman & Hall/CRC; 1991.
- (109) Benchimol A, Bartall H, Desser KB. Accelerated ventricular rhythm and cocaine abuse. *Ann Intern Med* 1978; 88(4):519-520.
- (110) Magnano AR, Talathoti NB, Hallur R, Jurus DT, Dizon J, Holleran S et al. Effect of acute cocaine administration on the QTc interval of habitual users. *Am J Cardiol* 2006; 97(8):1244-1246.
- (111) Haigney MCP, Alam S, Tebo S, Marhefka G, Elkashef A, Kahn R et al. Intravenous cocaine and QT variability. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2006; 17(6):610-616.
- (112) Haning W, Goebert D. Electrocardiographic abnormalities in methamphetamine abusers. *Addiction* 2007; 102:70-75.
- (113) Gennari JF. Hypokalemia (review). N Engl J Med 1998; 339:451-458.
- (114) Harris RI, Steare SE. A meta-analysis of ECG data from healthy male volunteers: diurnal and intra-subject variability, and implications for planning ECG assessments and statistical analysis in clinical pharmacology studies. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 2006; 62(11):893-903.
- (115) Extramiana F, Leenhardt A, Maison-Blanche P. ECG evaluation of ventricular properties: The importance of cardiac cycle length. *Annals of Noninvasive Electrocardiology* 2009; 14:S54-S59.
- (116) Chiang CE. Congenital and acquired long QT syndrome. Current concepts and management. *Cardiol Rev* 2004; 12(4):222-234.
- (117) Hinterseer M, Beckmann BM, Thomsen MB, Pfeufer A, Pozza RD, Loeff M et al. Relation of increased short-term variability of QT interval to congenital long-QT syndrome. *Am J Cardiol* 2009; 103(9):1244-1248.
- (118) Priori SG, Schwartz PJ, Napolitano C, Bloise R, Ronchetti E, Grillo M et al. Risk stratification in the long-QT syndrome. N Engl J Med 2003; 348(19):1866-1874.

- (119) Goldenberg I, Moss AJ. Long QT syndrome. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2008; 51(24):2291-2300.
- (120) Napolitano C, Priori SG, Schwartz PJ, Bloise R, Ronchetti E, Nastoli J et al. Genetic testing in the long QT syndrome - Development and validation of an efficient approach to genotyping in clinical practice. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 2005; 294(23):2975-2980.
- (121) Helsedirektoratet. Nasjonal retningslinje for legemiddelassistert rehabilitering ved opioidavhengighet. 2010. Helsedirektoratet.
- (122) Andersen HT, Ekgren JS. [Heart arrhythmia and sudden death during methadone therapy]. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen* 2007; 127(4):63.
- (123) Waal H, Krook A, Hansteen V. [Methadone treatment and heart arrhythmia]. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen* 2007; 127(4):459-460.
- (124) Krantz MJ, Martin J, Stimmel B, Mehta D, Haigney MCP. QTc Interval Screening in Methadone Treatment. *Ann Intern Med* 2009; 150(6):387-95.

Paper 1-3

Mortality prior to, during and after opioid maintenance treatment (OMT): A national prospective cross-registry study

Thomas Clausen, Katinka Anchersen, Helge Waal.

Drug and Alcohol Dependence 2008; 94: 151-157.

Prevalence and clinical relevance of corrected QT interval prolongation during methadone and buprenorphine treatment: A mortality assessment study

Katinka Anchersen, Thomas Clausen, Michael Gossop, Viggo Hansteen, Helge Waal.

Addiction 2009; 104: 993-999.

Opioid maintenance patients with QTc prolongation: Congenital long QT syndrome mutation may be a contributing risk factor

Katinka Anchersen, Viggo Hansteen, Michael Gossop, Thomas Clausen, Helge Waal.

Drug and Alcohol Dependence 2010; in press.

Opioid maintenance patients with QTc prolongation:

Congenital long QT syndrome mutation may be a contributing risk factor

Names of authors:

Katinka Anchersen, SERAF.¹

Viggo Hansteen, Oslo University Hospital Aker, Trondheimsveien 235, N-0586 Oslo,

Norway.

Michael Gossop, King's College London, London, SE5 8AZ, England.

Thomas Clausen, SERAF.¹

Helge Waal, SERAF.¹

Full address and e-mail of corresponding author:

Katinka Anchersen

¹Norwegian Centre for Addiction Research (SERAF)

University of Oslo

Kirkeveien 166

N-0407 Oslo

Norway

Phone: +47 233 68 984

Fax: +47 233 68 986

E-mail: katinka.anchersen@medisin.uio.no

Total pages: 14

Word count for body text: 1980

Word count for abstract: 216

Number of tables: 2

Opioid maintenance patients with QTc prolongation:

Congenital long QT syndrome mutation may be a contributing risk factor

Objectives

This study investigates opioid maintenance treatment (OMT) patients found to have corrected QT (QTc) interval above 500 msec, with particular focus on past medical history, genetic testing and cardiac investigations.

Methods

Detailed medical and cardiac history was obtained, with particular focus upon risk factors. Cardiac investigations, including genetic testing for the five most common long QT syndrome (LQTS) mutations, exercise electrocardiography (ECG) and 24-hour ECG recordings, were performed.

Results

Of 200 OMT patients assessed with ECG, seven methadone maintained patients identified with QTc interval above 500 msec participated in this study. Two were identified as heterozygous LQTS mutations carriers. Both had experienced cardiac symptoms prior to and during OMT. No other risk factors for QTc prolongation were detected among the seven patients. Six of the seven patients underwent further cardiac investigations. QTc intervals fluctuated widely over 24 hours and during exercise for all patients. Only one of the LQTS mutation carriers switched to buprenorphine and started on a beta blocker. Despite strong medical advice and information, none of the other patients wanted to switch to buprenorphine or take other cardiac protective measures.

2

Conclusion

Findings indicate the importance of recording a thorough past medical history, focusing specifically on previous cardiac symptoms, and on other known risk factors for QTc prolongation, prior to initiating patients on methadone.

Keywords

Congenital long QT syndrome, genetic, management, methadone, QT prolongation
Opioid maintenance patients with QTc prolongation:

Congenital long QT syndrome mutation may be a contributing risk factor

Anchersen K, Hansteen V, Gossop M, Clausen T, Waal H.

1. Introduction

The association between methadone and prolongation of the corrected QT (QTc) interval is well-established (Fonseca et al., 2009; Peles et al., 2007; Wedam et al., 2007). QTc prolongation is characterised by abnormal T-wave morphology seen on electrocardiogram (ECG) and is in itself asymptomatic. It is associated with torsades de pointes (TdP), which is often self-terminating and may cause a quick syncopal episode. If TdP is more persistent, ventricular fibrillation leading to cardiac arrest and sudden death can result (Vincent, 2000). As TdP rarely occurs with a QTc interval of less than 500 msec, this is generally considered the threshold of risk for TdP (Priori et al., 2003).

Drug-induced QTc prolongation is caused mainly by blockade of the slow component of the delayed rectifier K^+ current (I_{Kr}), a major repolarisation current in the heart. I_{Kr} blockers, such as methadone, increase the dispersion in repolarisation. They often display a reverse frequency-dependent effect, in which the degree of QTc prolongation is more prominent during slow heart rates (Chiang, 2004). A dose-response association between methadone and the QTc interval has been found, with increased dose associated with a higher frequency of reported syncope (Fanoe et al., 2007).

Multiple risk factors may contribute to QTc prolongation, including hepatic cytochrome P450 inhibitors, structural heart disease and hypokalemia, as well as genetic predisposition

(Chiang, 2004; Reddy et al., 2010). Three major genes involved in congenital long QT syndrome (LQTS) were identified in 1995 (De Ferrari & Schwartz, 2009). Most mutations occur in LQTS1, LQTS2 and LQTS3 genes (Markiewicz-Loskot et al., 2009). A study tested for mutations in the LQTS1, LQTS2, LQTS3, LQTS5 and LQTS6 genes, which all code for subunits of cardiac ion channels. The overall prevalence in the general population of heterozygous mutation carriers for the five genes was estimated to be between 1/100 and 1/300 (Berge et al., 2008).

Phenotypically silent or subclinical LQTS mutation carriers may become symptomatic in the presence of other risk factors (Chiang, 2004), including drugs with QTc prolonging properties such as methadone. However, the LQTS carrier status is often unknown to the individual and clinician prior to the risk exposure and subsequent clinical manifestation (Goldenberg & Moss, 2008). This study is a case series of OMT patients with QTc interval above 500 msec. A detailed medical and cardiac history was obtained, with particular focus upon risk factors. Cardiac investigations, including genetic testing for the five most common LQTS mutations, were performed.

2. Materials and methods

Patients with QTc > 500 msec were identified and recruited from a QTc assessment study: ECG was recorded among 200 OMT patients (Anchersen et al., 2009), of whom 173 were on methadone and 27 on buprenorphine. The mean age was 41 years. The mean daily methadone dose was 111 mg and buprenorphine dose 19 mg.

A medical history was obtained from patients with QTc interval > 500 msec at the initial consultation. Previous cardiac symptoms and disorders were specifically requested. All

substances (including alcohol) and medications ever used, particularly those associated with changes in QTc interval were noted. The family history focused on known cardiac disorders, symptoms and treatment.

Standard dideoxy DNA sequencing was done on blood samples, using the Big Dye terminator cycle sequencing kit. Testing was performed at the Department of medical genetics at Oslo University Hospital, checking for mutations in the following five genes:

- Potassium channel, voltage-gated, KQT-like subfamily, member 1 (KCNQ1) = LQTS1
- Human ether-a-go-go-related gene (*HERG*) = LQTS2
- Sodium channel, voltage-gated, type V, alpha subunit (*SCN5A*) = LQTS3
- Minimal potassium ion channel (*minK*) = LQTS5
- Minimal potassium ion channel-related peptide 1 (MiRP1) = LQTS6

Patients were encouraged to attend the cardiac outpatient clinic at Oslo University Hospital for an appointment with a consultant cardiologist. Investigations included ECG at rest, exercise ECG (bicycle) and 24-hour ECG recording.

The study was approved by the Regional ethics committee.

3. Results

Among the 200 OMT patients, eight methadone patients were identified with QTc >500 msec. One declined participation and was not included in this study. Seven patients (one woman, 6 men) attended the initial appointment, where a full medical history was obtained and blood tests for potassium level and genetic testing for LQTS mutations performed.

//Table 1//

Participants were aged 29 -53 years (mean 40.8 years). Daily methadone doses were 120-240 mg. Initial QTc ranged from 507-579 msec. All seven patients had normal serum potassium levels. Genetic testing revealed two heterozygous mutations for LQTS: both patients had histories of previous cardiac symptoms. No cardiac disorders had been diagnosed. There were no cases of known HIV, liver disease, diabetes or other chronic disorders. There was no reported use of other drugs known to affect the QTc interval and no relevant family history.

//Table 2//

Patient 7 dropped out of OMT after the initial appointment and testing. He did not undergo cardiac investigations and is excluded in further results. The remaining six patients received additional investigations. Patient 1 had a normal QTc at rest (444 msec). This increased to 535 msec on the exercise test and varied between 480-560 msec on the 24-hour recording. The other three patients without detected mutations had QTc intervals at rest >500 msec. The QTc interval of these three patients fell substantially <500 msec on the exercise test (460-477 msec). During the 24-hour recording, these patients had peaks >500 msec.

3.1. Patient with LQTS2 mutation

This patient was a 32 year old woman with longstanding injecting heroin use, until admitted to OMT 2 years previously when she was started on methadone. On the initial ECG recording, QTc was 532 msec. She received 120 mg of methadone/day. Genetic testing revealed that the patient was heterozygous for the LQTS2 mutation.

In her medical history, she described 5-6 episodes of syncope and daily episodes of dizziness, without palpitations. She had never consulted medical staff for this problem. Resting QTc interval was 501 msec. During exercise, heart rate reached a maximum of 138 bpm, while blood pressure remained unchanged at 93/78 mmHg. She had to stop after 4 minutes due to exhaustion. There was no chest pain or dizziness during the investigation and ECG showed no signs of arrhythmia or ischemia. QTc during the investigation increased to 507 msec. During the 24-hour recording QTc interval varied between 500-560 msec.

The patient did not wish to switch to buprenorphine. She declined to start on a protective beta-blocker or reduce the methadone dose. Finally, she turned down the offer of an implantable cardiac rhythm recorder.

3.2. Patient with LQTS1 mutation

This patient was a 30 year old man with longstanding injecting heroin use until admitted to OMT 4 years before the study. He was receiving 120 mg methadone/day. On the initial ECG, QTc was 513 msec. Genetic testing detected a heterozygous LQTS1 mutation.

After the prolonged QTc was detected, he requested transfer from methadone to buprenorphine. At the cardiac outpatient appointment he appeared in good health. His past medical history indicated two separate episodes of cardiac arrest prior to OMT: both occurred during withdrawal from heroin and required resuscitation. He had since experienced 3-4 episodes of syncope. Two years ago he had an episode of loss of consciousness resulting in hospital admission. He was discharged without any diagnosis or medication. QTc interval was not investigated at that time. For resting ECG, the QTc was 441 msec. During exercise, heart rate reached a maximum of 138 bpm; blood pressure reached 142/78 mmHg. He was moderately out of breath at the end, but did not experience chest pain or dizziness. There were no signs of arrhythmia or ischemia on his ECG. QTc during the investigation remained unchanged. The 24-hour ECG recording revealed fluctuations of QTc between 444 msec at lowest heart rate up to 601 at maximum heart rate.

As the patient had already switched to buprenorphine, he was advised to start on a prophylactic beta-blocker based on his medical history, LQTS1 mutation and the 24 hour ECG recordings. He accepted this and was prescribed 50 mg metoprolol (Selo-Zok®) daily. The cardiologist also raised the possibility of an implantable cardiac rhythm recorder, which he declined.

3.3. Patients without LQTS mutations

The remaining four patients received individual follow-up appointments. One patient had experienced three non-specific episodes of loss of consciousness over the last 20 years, which were uncertain in origin. As no causation of QTc prolongation beyond methadone was established, these patients were advised to switch to buprenorphine, which all patients declined. They were recommended reduction of methadone dose, or alternatively a betablocker. These offers were also declined: all patients stated that they wished to continue the current methadone treatment. Finally, they were offered a small implantable cardiac rhythm recorder. No patient opted for this device. After information about possible risks, these patients chose to continue on the same methadone dose, without preventative measures.

4. Discussion

In this study we recorded 24-hour ECGs, in which QTc varied between markedly prolonged to 500 msec or less for all the patients. The exercise test further indicated the changes in QTc interval that can occur with increased heart rate (Extramiana et al., 2009). Results of our cardiac investigations illustrate diurnal fluctuations of the QTc interval (Harris & Steare, 2006) . Three patients without LQTS mutations detected, had reductions to their QTc interval from above to significantly below 500 msec with increased heart rate, illustrating the reverse frequency-dependent effect of drug-induced QTc prolongation (Chiang, 2004).

The study identified two heterozygous LQTS mutations carriers. The cardiac symptoms experienced over many years by these two patients, highlight the importance of history taking prior to OMT. Family history did not prove a useful marker of mutation status, as it was negative for both patients. No other risk factors for QTc prolongation were identified. Only one patient already on buprenorphine started on a beta blocker. None of the other patients wanted to switch to buprenorphine or take other cardiac protective measures.

One male was found to carry a heterozygous LQTS1 mutation. He had earlier suffered two cardiac arrests requiring resuscitation during heroin withdrawal. He had switched to buprenorphine prior to the cardiac outpatient appointment. During the 24-hour tape recording, the QTc interval fluctuated between normal values of 444 msec and 601 msec at maximum heart rate. LQTS1 has been found to be more sensitive than LQTS2 and LQTS3 to sympathetic stimulation (Markiewicz-Loskot et al., 2009). The underlying LQTS1 mutation, in combination with extreme stimulation of the sympathetic nervous system during heroin withdrawal, may have triggered the two episodes of cardiac arrest. It is uncertain whether the patient's genetic mutation would have been detected if he had not been treated with

methadone when participating in the original study. Increased short-term variability of QT interval of > 4.9 msec has recently been found to have a sensitivity of 83 % and specificity of 68 % in identifying new LQTS mutation carriers in people with a normal QTc interval (Hinterseer et al., 2009).

The marked diurnal fluctuations of the QTc interval among the patients clearly limit the reliability of a single ECG used for identification. Additionally, between 10-36 % of heterozygous mutation carriers are silent carriers and have a normal QTc interval on their ECG (Priori et al., 2003). Consequently, there may have been missed cases of LQTS mutations among the remaining 192 patients with QTc intervals < 500 msec in the QTc assessment study: it can not be excluded that the prevalence of LQTS mutations is the same in this group. Finally, even in patients referred for genetic testing following the most stringent criteria, a mutation is identified in approximately 70 % of the cases (Goldenberg & Moss, 2008; Napolitano et al., 2005). This implies that a substantial proportion of LQTS mutations have not yet been discovered and were subsequently not tested for. Further studies, including 24-hour ECGs and genetic testing, are needed in order to investigate the prevalence of QTc prolongation and associated risk factors among methadone maintained patients in more detail.

References

Anchersen, K., Clausen, T., Gossop, M., Hansteen, V., Waal, H., 2009. Prevalence and clinical relevance of corrected QT interval prolongation during methadone and buprenorphine treatment: a mortality assessment study. Addiction. 104, 993-999.

Berge, K.E., Haugaa, K.H., Fruh, A., Anfinsen, O.G., Gjesdal, K., Siem, G., Oyen, N., Greve,
G., Carlsson, A., Rognum, T.O., Hallerud, M., Kongsgard, E., Amlie, J.P., Leren, T.P., 2008.
Molecular genetic analysis of long QT syndrome in Norway indicating a high prevalence of
heterozygous mutation carriers. Scandinavian Journal of Clinical & Laboratory Investigation.
68, 362-U28.

Chiang, C.E., 2004. Congenital and acquired long QT syndrome. Current concepts and management. Cardiol. Rev. 12, 222-234.

De Ferrari, G.M., Schwartz, P.J., 2009. Long QT syndrome, a purely electrical disease? Not anymore. Eur. Heart J. 30, 253-255.

Extramiana, F., Leenhardt, A., Maison-Blanche, P., 2009. ECG Evaluation of Ventricular Properties: The Importance of Cardiac Cycle Length. Annals of Noninvasive Electrocardiology. 14, S54-S59.

Fanoe, S., Hvidt, C., Ege, P., Jensen, G.B., 2007. Syncope and QT prolongation among patients treated with methadone for heroin dependence in the city of Copenhagen. Heart. 93, 1051-1055.

Fonseca, F., Marti-Almor, J., Pastor, A., Cladellas, M., Farre, M., de la Torre, R., Torrens,M., 2009. Prevalence of long QTc interval in methadone maintenance patients. Drug AlcoholDepend. 99, 327-332.

Goldenberg, I., Moss, A.J., 2008. Long QT syndrome. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 51, 2291-2300.

Harris, R.I., Steare, S.E., 2006. A meta-analysis of ECG data from healthy male volunteers: diurnal and intra-subject variability, and implications for planning ECG assessments and statistical analysis in clinical pharmacology studies. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 62, 893-903.

Hinterseer, M., Beckmann, B.M., Thomsen, M.B., Pfeufer, A., Pozza, R.D., Loeff, M., Netz,H., Steinbeck, G., Vos, M.A., Kaab, S., 2009. Relation of Increased Short-Term Variabilityof QT Interval to Congenital Long-QT Syndrome. Am. J. Cardiol. 103, 1244-1248.

Markiewicz-Loskot, G., Moric-Janiszewska, E., Mazurek, U., 2009. The Risk of Cardiac Events and Genotype-Based Management of LQTS Patients. Annals of Noninvasive Electrocardiology. 14, 86-92.

Napolitano, C., Priori, S.G., Schwartz, P.J., Bloise, R., Ronchetti, E., Nastoli, J., Bottelli, G., Cerrone, M., Leonardi, S., 2005. Genetic testing in the long QT syndrome - Development and validation of an efficient approach to genotyping in clinical practice. Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association. 294, 2975-2980.

Peles, E., Bodner, G., Kreek, M.J., Rados, V., Adelson, M., 2007. Corrected-QT intervals as related to methadone dose and serum level in methadone maintenance treatment (MMT) patients - a cross-sectional study. Addiction. 102, 289-300.

Priori, S.G., Schwartz, P.J., Napolitano, C., Bloise, R., Ronchetti, E., Grillo, M., Vicentini,A., Spazzolini, C., Nastoli, J., Bottelli, G., Folli, R., Cappelletti, D., 2003. Risk stratificationin the long-QT syndrome. N. Engl. J. Med. 348, 1866-1874.

Reddy, S., Hui, D., El Osta, B., de la Cruz, M., Walker, P., Palmer, J.L., Bruera, E., 2010. The Effect of Oral Methadone on the QTc Interval in Advanced Cancer Patients: A Prospective Pilot Study. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 13, 33-38.

Vincent, G.M., 2000. Long QT syndrome. Cardiol. Clin. 18, 309-325.

Wedam, E.F., Bigelow, G.E., Johnson, R.E., Nuzzo, P.A., Haigney, M.C.P., 2007. QT-Interval effects of methadone, levomethadyl, and buprenorphine in a randomized trial. Arch. Intern. Med. 167, 2469-2475.

/ S-potassium Genetic mmol/L LQTS (ref.3.6-5.0) mutations	4.4 Nil found	s 3.9 Nil found	4.4 Nil found	f Heterozygot mutation 4.3 R885C in exon 11 of the HERG	gene 3.8 Nil found	Heterozygot mutation 4.5 Q530X in the <i>KCNQ1</i> gene	4.9 Nil found
Cardiac history	Nil	3 episodes of loss of consciousness over 20 last yr	Nil	5-6 episodes o syncope over last 12 years, daily episodes of dizziness	Nil	2 episodes of cardiac arrest associated with abstinence, $3 \rightarrow$ episodes of syncope during last 10 years	Nil
QTc interval ir study (msec)	520	579	523	532	507	513	528
Months in treatment	72	96	19	25	78	33	39
Methadone dose	140 mg	240 mg	140 mg	120 mg	150 mg	120 mg	160 mg
Age	46	53	35	32	47	29	44
Gender	Male	Male	Male	Female	Male	Male	Male
	Patient 1	Patient 2	Patient 3	Patient 4	Patient 5	Patient 6	Patient 7

Table 1. Patient characteristics, cardiac history and blood test results

Table 2. Results of clinical examination and cardiac investigations

	General observations	Resting ECG at cardiac OP	Exercise ECG at maximum tolerance	24 hrs ECG (Holter)
Patient 1	H: 185 cm W: 104 kg HR: 74 reg BPs: 95/70 BPI: 120/80	SR, QTc 444 msec	QTc 535 msec, HR113 bpm, BP 129/65	SR 38-106 bpm, 1 pause: 2.01 sec, QTc 480-560 msec
Patient 2	H: 180 cm W: 92 kg HR: 75 reg BPs: 145/80 BPI: 145/80	SR, QTc 520 msec	QTc 477 msec, HR 112 bpm, BP 200/100	SR 55-119 bpm, QTc 480-520 msec
Patient 3	H: 200 cm W: 90 kg HR: 112 reg BPs: 106/78 BPI: 120/80	SR, QTc 502 msec	QTc 474 msec, HR 148 bpm, BP 134/86	SR 34-153 bpm, sinus bradycardia at night, QTc 480-505
Patient 4	H: 164 cm W: 68 kg HR: 70 reg BPs: 93/74 BPI: 100/80	SR, QTc 501 msec	QTc 507 msec, HR 163 bpm, BP 93/78	SR 44-136 bpm, QTc 500-560 msec
Patient 5	H: 179 cm W: 85 kg HR: 84 reg BPs: 154/98 BPl: 160/100	SR, QTc 506 msec	QTc 460 msec, HR 110 bpm, BP 195/89	SR 53-122 bpm, QTc 460-507 msec
Patient 6*	H: 186 cm W: 75 kg HR: 78 reg BPs: 108/78 BPI: 120/80	SR, QTc 441 msec	QTc 440 msec, HR 138 bpm, BP 142/78	SR 40-153, QTc 444-601 msec

SR = sinus rhythm, QTc= corrected QT interval, HR = heart rate, BP = blood pressure H = height, W = weight, HR = heart rate in beats per minute (bpm), reg = regular, BPs = blood pressure sitting measured in mmHG, BPl = blood pressure lying measured in mmHG *On buprenorphine during cardiac investigations